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Letter from the Chair
The year has again shown the many strengths of CAFOD, working among some of
the poorest people in the world. This report not only demonstrates the range of work that has
occurred over the year but also makes it clear that this is only made possible by the
generosity of so many people across England and Wales through their giving. You will see
from the information contained in this report that the number of volunteers CAFOD is lucky
enough to have has grown by over 1,500 this year to just over 5,800.
When people ask me why volunteering is so important for CAFOD’s work – my answer is
simple. CAFOD just wouldn’t exist without volunteers.
Volunteers are where it all began. Compelled by faith and a desire to help others, four
women gave their time and energy to organise the first Family Fast Day, which evolved into
what we now know as CAFOD. In the more than 50 years since then, volunteers remain at
the heart of CAFOD’s work.
Faith isn’t just a concept that we have in our minds as some sort of sterile belief. Faith
cannot just be something that is only thought about and believed in. It has to be put into
action.
Pope Francis gives us that challenge in Evangelii Gaudium, when he calls us “Missionary
Disciples”. To be a “disciple” is to hear the word and believe it and want to follow the Lord.
But we have also to be “missionary” which means living the word in all our decisions and
actions with people around us. Volunteering is a clear expression of that missionary
discipleship.
Today, more than 5,800 people from across England and Wales volunteer with
CAFOD. Volunteers come from all walks of life and bring a wealth of experience, expertise
and energy. They have in common a shared calling to put their faith into action. In the
words of one volunteer, “having faith cannot be separated from living this faith.”
When someone stands up in front of me, perhaps someone I already know in my parish or
school, and talks to me about something they know about and believe in, that can make a
big impact. Their words make a closer connection to projects happening a long way away.
To all of our volunteers, and anyone who contributes in any way to CAFOD’s mission, thank
you for all that you do. Your actions help others to live life to the full and you can be rightly
proud of what you help to achieve. You can be confident of the difference that is being made
in the lives of our sisters and brothers in very practical ways.

Rt Rev John Arnold
Bishop of Salford, Chair of the Trustees
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Objectives and activities
Who are we?
CAFOD is the official international aid and development agency of the Catholic Church in England
and Wales, mandated by the Bishops to deliver its mission on poverty and injustice.
From its roots in actions led by women in Catholic parishes across England and Wales more than 50
years ago, CAFOD has been an expression of the compassion of the Catholic community of England
and Wales and its solidarity with the poorest and most marginalised; regardless of faith, gender, race,
ethnicity or other defining features.
Inspired by the Scriptures and tradition of the Church (particularly Catholic Social Teaching), and
driven by our values, CAFOD works to relieve suffering in crisis situations, to support the poorest and
most marginalised in securing the essential components of a dignified and sustainable life, and to
help them and others to change the structures that keep people poor, oppressed and marginalised.
As part of the Church, CAFOD is mandated to help inform and mobilise the Catholic community in
England and Wales to address issues of poverty and injustice across the world, in ways that also
support transformation in our own lives.

Our vision
Our vision is a world transformed to reflect the Kingdom of God – a world where:
 the rights and dignity of every person are respected
 all have access to basic needs in life
 women and men share equally in shaping their societies and our world
 the gifts of creation are nurtured and shared by all for the common good
 the structures that shape people’s lives are just, and enable peace.

Our mission
Together with our partners and the global Caritas family we:
 work with poor and disadvantaged communities in the global South to overcome poverty and bring
about sustainable development and wellbeing
 protect lives and relieve suffering during emergencies; reduce the risks to vulnerable communities
that result from conflict and natural disasters
 raise awareness and understanding of the causes of poverty and injustice to inspire a commitment to
lasting change
 challenge those with power to adopt policies and behaviour that promote social justice and end
poverty.
To fulfil this fourfold mission, we raise funds and mobilise action from the Catholic community and beyond.

Our values


Compassion - Confronted by global poverty and suffering, our fundamental response is
compassion rooted in love. We refuse to accept the suffering of our brothers and sisters and
we are compelled to take action to alleviate it.

3

Trustees’ Report for the year ended 31 March 2016


Dignity - We believe in the intrinsic dignity of every person. We work with all people
regardless of race, gender, religion or politics. We try always to be an inclusive and diverse
organisation, which celebrates difference and creates relationships of mutual respect.



Solidarity - We walk alongside poor and disadvantaged communities, making their cause our
cause, uniting in action and prayer. We share our resources, and we work together to
challenge the policies and systems that keep people poor, so that the whole of humanity can
flourish.



Hope - Our hope is inspired by Christian faith and the strength and resourcefulness of our
partners and the people whom they serve. In the knowledge that Christian hope is not
passive, we believe that, by working together, a better world can and must be achieved so
that all can enjoy the fullness of life.



Partnership - We build links between poor communities overseas and the Catholic
community in England and Wales. We work alongside our partners at home and overseas,
acknowledging that we receive as well as give. We work within, and beyond, our wider
Catholic family, seeking justice to change our world for the better.



Sustainability - We recognise the intimate relationship between protecting and sustaining the
environment and promoting human development. We aim to take proper account of ecological
sustainability in our work and in our lifestyle, believing we are enriched by living simply.



Stewardship - We strive to be good stewards of all the resources entrusted to us. We
endeavour to be openly accountable for our work, transparent in our decision making,
focusing on positive change through systematically evaluating our impact and effectiveness.

Strategies for achieving our stated aims and objectives
The objectives set out within the governing document are standard charitable objectives to allow CAFOD to
undertake the full range of charitable activities. These objectives are:






the relief of poverty throughout the world
the advancement of education throughout the world
the advancement of the Christian Religion throughout the world
the relief and prevention of sickness, disease and physical or mental disability throughout the world
and such other charitable purposes anywhere in the world as are for the benefit of the United
Kingdom community.

In order to achieve these aims and objectives:
We work in more than 40 countries worldwide; supporting over 300 partners who work with local
communities in the global South. We work on behalf of the Catholic community in England and Wales who
commit to building a more just and equitable world through prayer, action, giving and reflection. We are a
member of Caritas Internationalis; a group of over 160 Catholic sister agencies across the world, known as
‘the helping hand of the Church’. Together we strive to eradicate poverty, to address and challenge its root
causes and to empower people to bring about change for themselves. Our strategic framework, ‘Just One
World’, sets out how we intend to make our vision a reality.
Working with people of all faiths and none, we work to support the poorest and most disadvantaged
to access and positively influence the resources, environments and decisions that affect their lives
and the world around them.
We believe that supporting the localisation of aid is an essential aspect of ‘shifting the power’ in
favour of the poorest and most disadvantaged communities. This includes increasing the resources
placed in the hands of those closest to the point of intervention, combined with a strengthened
capacity of local partners and other actors to make best use of the resources for the benefit of the
poorest people.
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We believe that channelling resources to support the poorest and most disadvantaged must be
combined with increasing awareness and influencing skills amongst those active in civil society who
are committed to the common good, if unjust systems and structures and the broken relationships that
sustain them are to be transformed.
CAFOD works in partnership with hundreds of Church, secular and other faith organisations across
the world to achieve positive change at all levels of society and to maximise the benefits offered by
the vast capillary systems of the Church and other faith and civil society networks, at the points of
greatest need. Working in partnership is a primary expression of solidarity and the healing power of
relationships in transforming our world.
As a part of the Catholic community of England and Wales CAFOD is part of the Church’s mission.
We will promote active and prayerful participation in every parish and Catholic School and with the
individuals who support CAFOD, to raise awareness, take action and resource our shared mission.
Given the challenges facing the world over the coming decade, the need for effective communities
of change makers working to defeat poverty and injustice will only increase. As part of strong
Catholic movements in support of positive change for the poorest and for the earth, CAFOD will play
an active role within the Catholic community internationally and in England and Wales, and in our role
as a Caritas agency.
The call to healing relationships extends to the earth and all parts of creation. The strategies we
adopt and the ways in which we work must reflect the needs of the earth and the interconnectedness
of all creation (Laudato Si’, Ch. 4, Integral ecology) in the achievement of authentic human
development.

Criteria and measures of success
We measure our success in achieving these aims and objectives through regular reporting against the
outcomes set in CAFOD’s strategic framework ‘Just One World’, which we refreshed at the end of 2015/16.
We utilise a combination of assessment against specific metrics and targets and the use of qualitative
evidence provided through stories from our partners and the communities we work with. Our key
achievements in 2015/16 are included in our strategic report starting on page 7.

Grant making Policy
The majority of CAFOD’s charitable work is carried out by making grants to partner organisations. Grants are
made within long term strategies agreed with our partners. Grants for development programmes are often
made on a three-year basis.
Before individual grants are made, project proposals are subject to a formal assessment and approval. All
projects are systematically monitored for the duration of their existence, and major projects are subject to a
final evaluation review.

Working with volunteers
CAFOD is grateful for the support and commitment of nearly 6,000 volunteers in England and Wales and the
many volunteers working alongside our international partners. These partnerships, in support of CAFOD’s
work, embody and exemplify solidarity and interconnectedness as well as good stewardship. A conservative
estimate of the financial value of volunteering to CAFOD’s work in England and Wales alone is several
hundreds of thousands of pounds.
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How we have lived our values
Compassion
CAFOD supporters gave £3.5m in response to the Nepal earthquake in
April 2015.

Dignity
CAFOD’s ‘Lost Family Portraits’ series raised the visibility of the refugee
crisis. The series was seen by 758m viewers globally via media and online
channels and raised £286,000 for the Refugee Crisis Appeal.

Partnership
In 2015/16, just over 104,000 supporters had engaged in our work, 3,000
more than last year.

Stewardship
Research amongst Mass-going Catholics showed that 91% of supporters
trust us a ‘great deal’ or ‘quite a lot’. This has risen from 88% in 2014/15.

Hope
Seventeen new Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) were agreed in
September 2015. These are international goals that will set the blueprint for
development work over the next 15 years.

Sustainability
As part of a partners' and community-based advocacy and influencing
project in Brazil, 2,285 families are able to access permanent housing and
social housing programmes, 1,912 families are able to access sanitation
and 1,050 accessed subsidised electricity, reducing their social,
environmental and climate change vulnerability.

Solidarity
Together with SCIAF and Trocaire, we gathered over 40,000 signatures from
across the UK, calling on the Prime Minister to take urgent action to prevent
climate change pushing people deeper into poverty.
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Strategic Report
Achievements and performance
CAFOD’s strategic framework ‘Just One World’ sets out four aims for our work to 2020; here we report
back on some of the main outcomes to date.

Aim 1 - Increasing power and influence so that the poorest and most
disadvantaged communities are able to influence the decisions, resources and
systems that affect them, and have governments, institutions and global
structures that are just and accountable.
Participating internationally:
Outcome: CAFOD partners and Catholic networks will participate in the United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs) process and have a voice in formulating the goals and their implementation
The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) are international goals that will set the blueprint for
development work over the next 15 years. The 17 new SDGs were agreed in September 2015. They
have a focus on eradicating poverty and protecting the environment, are applicable to all countries
and have the aim of doing more to tackle inequality through leaving no-one behind. They include
goals on tackling climate change and providing access to sustainable energy, both of which CAFOD
and partners did extensive lobbying on. Many of our key messages have been included and the
participative nature (which involved many people through varied avenues) was recognised as one of
the successes of the process.
Following the agreement of the SDGs, we have worked extensively on the implementation phase. As
coordinators of the Caritas Internationalis Working Group on post-2015, we have worked to support
national Caritas members to engage with SDG implementation. We also supported Caritas
Internationalis to develop an SDG booklet to help partners engage with implementation, which has
been translated into 4 languages and which the Anglican Alliance and ACT Alliance will also be using.
Our aim is to transfer the co-ordination of this group to a southern Caritas member agency for the
long-term monitoring and accountability around the SDGs.
We have also supported SECAM (African Regional Bishops Conference) to develop an advocacy
strategy towards the African Union, which will be implemented at continental and national level. This
is part of a longer term strategy which has included visits by SECAM staff to CAFOD and follow up
advice around planning and research.

Tackling climate change
Outcome: Our partners and the communities they serve will influence climate change debates in
national and international fora, to achieve a commitment to tackling climate change in the run up to the
United Nations Conference of Parties meeting in December 2015.
Together with SCIAF and Trocaire, we gathered over 40,000 signatures from across the UK (100%
constituency coverage in England and Wales) calling on David Cameron to take urgent action to
prevent climate change pushing people deeper into poverty. These signatures were handed into
Downing Street by CAFOD supporters in November and were added to the 700,000 collected by the
Global Catholic Climate Movement and handed to Christiana Figueres (who heads the UN
Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) which managed the climate talks). Nearly 50
pilgrims set off from the UK on the 13th Nov and walked the 200-mile journey to Paris (backed by the
Church of England, Christian Aid, Tearfund and CAFOD). We also mobilised a large number of
supporters for the People’s climate March in November (over 250 people); their journey was covered
extensively in regional media including BBC radio interviews and local newspapers. Two national
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feature stories in the Observer and Independent on Sunday were placed by CAFOD ahead of the
Paris climate talks, reminding supporters and the UK public of the impact of climate change on the
poorest communities in developing countries.
We also contributed to the success of the Climate Coalitions Valentine Day work. Over 7 million
people watched Michael Morpurgo’s ‘Love letter for the planet’ – a short film starring Jeremy Irons
and Maxine Peake. Green hearts were worn across Premier football clubs; businesses such as
Unilever and BT, and lots of local groups across the country. Many CAFOD supporters made
handmade green hearts. Astronaut Tim Peake tweeted about the campaign from space.
Humanitarian advocacy
Outcome: CAFOD and its partners will achieve specific changes to humanitarian policy, which will
improve the lives of people affected by emergencies.
We have made great progress in this area. Throughout 2015/16 we have continued to promote our
policy and advocacy messages in the context of the World Humanitarian Summit (WHS), focusing on
localisation of aid and reforms to the way the humanitarian system is financed. We have also
focussed on, and have made good progress with, our target of contributing to a shift in practice or
policy in 3 countries including the Philippines and South Sudan.
In September 2015, as part of a small NGO consortium delegation, we met with Kristalina Georgieva,
EU Vice President for Budget, ex EU Humanitarian Commissioner and currently Co-Chair of the
United Nations Secretary-General’s High Level Panel on Humanitarian Financing (HLP). We have
worked closely to influence the thinking of the HLP Secretariat and undertaken detailed advocacy to
the civil society representative on the HLP. CAFOD were invited to be one of two NGOs to attend the
Good Humanitarian Donorship (GHD) discussions on humanitarian financing and we supported our
advocacy partner, the Nairobi based Adeso, to undertake consultations on national NGO views on
humanitarian financing. We also organised a follow up meeting in London with European and US
NGOs, to formulate common policy positions for advocacy to HLP and the WHS processes.
The HLP Humanitarian Financing Report, released in January, mentioned Charter4Change as a real
example of change, and called for more of this type of commitment from INGOs. The Charter4Change
is an initiative, led by both National and International NGOs and which CAFOD has played a key role
in developing, to practically implement changes to the way the Humanitarian System operates to
enable more locally-led responses. It calls for the proportion of aid money going to local bodies to be
increased dramatically, with a target of 20 per cent by 2018. CAFOD also hosted a successful prelaunch briefing of the HLP Financing report by panel member Danny Sriskandarajah. We have
worked to ensure the inclusion of INGOs in the HLP’s flagship proposal of a ‘Grand Bargain’ between
donors and implementing agencies. To this end we were invited onto the Steering Committee for
Humanitarian Response (SCHR) technical working group and were also asked to participate in the
Advisory Group - convened by the UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA) and
UN Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) – to help inform and frame what the Grand Bargain
needed to encompass.
Following an inquiry into the Ebola response, the House of Commons’ International Development
Committee published its findings - Ebola: Responses to a public health emergency - in January 2016.
Included in the report’s recommendations is the need to include faith leaders at an early stage in
health emergencies, as per CAFOD’s joint submission with Christian Aid, Islamic Relief and Tearfund
on the role of faith leaders in the Ebola response, which was based on our research in Sierra Leone
and Liberia in mid-2015.
Last year we committed to shift practice or policy in three countries, through advocacy and accompaniment,
these are examples of what we achieved. Through a coalition of UK-based NGOs we have continued
advocacy on South Sudan to influence British government policy on that country, focusing on support for
peace processes, appropriate assistance, addressing SGBV and human rights abuses. We worked with the
Missed Opportunities group of NGOs (Oxfam, Christian Aid, Action Aid and Tearfund) to undertake research
on partnership working in the complex emergency setting of South Sudan.
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Partners in countries responding to the Syria refugee crisis have been supported to engage in
debates on practices of international agencies and donors. We have undertaken humanitarian
advocacy on the plight of the Syrian refugees, working with a coalition of NGOs to influence UK policy
on safe and legal routes for refugees, on humanitarian funding for the refugee response and on
accepting Syrian refugees into the UK.
In terms of humanitarian financing we have had an increased impact. Partners in the Philippines are
advocating on changes in roles of international actors and financing mechanisms for rapid on-set emergency
response. CAFOD also provided support and training to Caritas Norway and the wider Norwegian NonGovernmental Organisation (NGO) network on humanitarian advocacy, particularly to influence their own
government’s humanitarian financing policies.
We were very active in the preparations for the international donor conference for Syria, co-hosted in London
by Her Majesty’s Government at the beginning of February. Our partner, Caritas Lebanon, was one of the
official NGO participants, and we acted as a resource and coordinator for the wider Caritas family on this
event. We were also actively involved in writing the sectoral policy briefs submitted by the NGO community.
CAFOD’s ‘Lost Family Portraits’ series with photographer Dario Mitidieri and M&C Saatchi raising the
visibility of the refugee crisis was displayed at the international donor conference for Syria, the Department
for International Development, the World Humanitarian Summit, and used by sister agencies Caritas
Australia, Caritas Netherlands and dioceses in England and Wales. The series was seen by 758m viewers
globally via media and online channels and raised £286,000 for the Refugee Crisis Appeal.

Partner influence
Outcome: CAFOD partners and the communities they serve will influence regional policy and
structures.
Our partners and the communities they serve have been at the forefront of advocating for change.
They have been influential in a range of national and international debates of vital importance.
We assisted the Regional Episcopal Conference of West Africa (RECOWA) to facilitate a workshop
on Election Cycle Advocacy with Church organisations from across West and Central Africa. The
workshop helped participants think through issues that may occur at different points of the electoral
cycle and begin to develop strategies, while also being able to share experiences and hear about
successful examples of advocacy by other Church organisations. We helped on the design and
participatory approaches, and shared learning from across CAFOD’s programmes. Country level
plans were developed for Sierra Leone, Nigeria, Niger and Liberia and RECOWA developed a
strategy for its support across the region.
The advocacy element for the project “Climate Resilient Agriculture: transforming the livelihoods of 300,000
poor women, men and children in marginalised rural areas of Bangladesh, Kenya, Myanmar and Zimbabwe”
is to secure concrete changes in local and national government policy. The issues emerging are budget
allocations for agriculture and climate change adaptation in county governmental budgets, access to
renewable energy, and a lack of governmental policy support to small scale advocacy.
In advance of the Presidential elections in Niger, we helped our partner CADEV Niger to prepare, by working
through the most likely scenarios and developing advocacy and programme responses to these. Niger has a
history of disputed elections; so careful planning was needed. Advocacy accompaniment support was also
provided to help them prioritise their focus, with their decision to work on developing women’s land rights and
deforestation.
Last year we said we would help citizens, particularly women, influence changes as a result of our
funding, training tools and accompaniment to partners, this is an example of what has been achieved.
We have worked with WLSA (Women Lawyers in Southern Africa Research and Education Trust) 9
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Swaziland, leading to the development of a national Women’s Charter which was launched in June
2015. Accompaniment support built particularly on how the partner could influence both the traditional
and political systems, and re-establish strategic networks for influence. This led WLSA-Swaziland to
establish a strategic partnership with Lutsango LwaKaNgwane (a traditional women’s regiment which
reports to the queen mother-who has direct influence over what the King does) in the consultative
process of producing a Women’s Charter to achieve greater buy-in and impact. They are using the
Women’s Charter to push for the recognition of women’s rights in community, regional and national
decision making structures, mobilising for support with the traditional leadership through Lutsango as
an influential agent to penetrate the traditional systems and structures.

Aim 2 - Promoting long term positive change, so that women and men in the
poorest and most disadvantaged communities live sustainably and with dignity.
A decent living
Outcome: We will contribute to the growth in the number of poor women, men and children from hazard
prone or marginalised communities who have access to essential resources.

We started a 3-year project in 2015/16 to increase our support to partners in Bangladesh, Kenya,
Myanmar and Zimbabwe to specifically enable 20,000 additional small holder farmer households to
use more sustainable farming methods. Good progress has been made, with baseline assessments
completed and Partnership Agreements signed with all the countries. We are now moving into the
implementation phase of the longer term project in 2016/17.
Last year we earmarked several countries where we hoped to influence decisions on essential
resources, these are the situations where there has been a significant impact.

Brazil
As a result of the EU co-funded project in São Paulo, “Promoting an Inclusive and Sustainable City”,
2,285 families were able to secure permanent housing and social housing programmes, 1,912
families were able to install water and sanitation and 1,050 received subsidised electricity, reducing
their vulnerability to social, environmental and climate change.
At the end of October 2015, following 15 years of campaigning and advocacy by homeless families
and CAFOD’s Brazil partner APOIO, the municipal government signed over more than £4 million for
the purchase of the Prestes Maia 911 Building in São Paulo. This abandoned building in the centre of
São Paulo hosts the second largest vertical occupation in Latin America. Over the last years, the
families in this community lived through 26 judicial eviction orders, only two of which were successful.
The 378 homeless families who live there were facing another eviction order in October, when the
good news arrived. This represents a fantastic victory for APOIO and the 1,000 strong community, as
the building will now be converted into social housing. CAFOD has been supporting the Prestes Maia
struggle for many years.
CAFOD partner, the Pastoral Land Commission, significantly increased access for poor farming
families to land in rural areas as a result of EU funding for promoting socio-economic inclusion. By the
end of the third year of the project 812 families had made very encouraging progress towards
achieving full legal land entitlements, the right to possession of land and 595 more families had
entered legal claims to ensure they could benefit from land reform programmes and ensure their
future livelihoods.
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Bolivia
Community groups submitted four public policy proposals to local authorities and the municipal
council focussed on local development with a gender perspective so as to ensure that women had
equal rights to access basic services. Through the work of our partner ACLO in Potosí these
proposals were approved by the local Council and are now being implemented. Following the
elections of the new local authorities in May 2015, CAFOD’s partner (CIPCA) has supported the
development of a constitution for the Taracao Municipality focussing on the inclusion of articles
relating to democracy, community relations, anti-discrimination, youth opportunities, production, agroecology, land management and the right to nutrition.
Peru
Thanks to advocacy work by our partner Warmi Huasi (Women’s House) and the local community, a
Children's Commission has been formed made up of 23 children (15 boys and 8 girls) in the district of San
Benito in Lima which will be a space to promote children’s rights and services. A Local Action Plan for
Children and Teenagers in Carabayllo was also drawn up and approved by the local council and is now
being implemented to promote projects to support local children. Five safe spaces for homework, games,
reading club and library for children are now being run by local partners.

Bangladesh
CAFOD has supported Action on Disability and Development (ADD) in Bangladesh to promote better access
and availability of resources in sanitation for women and men with disabilities for the past two years. As well
as constructing over 490 disabled friendly latrines, CAFOD’s support to ADD has allowed them to form
Disabled People’s Organisations (DPOs) made up of over 400 people living with disabilities. During the life of
the project run there, 40 people with disabilities have become members of the local government Water and
Sanitation Committees and now have a voice in local government decisions on sanitation and water issues.
Advocacy work by ADD and the DPOs has led to the Government of Bangladesh’s Department of Public
Health Engineering introducing the ADD disabled friendly latrine design into an ongoing project for latrines in
primary schools. DPOs have also been successful in lobbying for local government budgets to specifically
allocate funds for disability issues including sanitation. As a result, 22 Unions (local governments) have
declared specific budget allocations for disability services.

Peace building
Outcome: CAFOD partners will contribute to building community and national structures for peace,
inclusion and reconciliation.

In Nigeria, CAFOD partner – Dialogue, Peace and Reconciliation Center (DREP Center) in Jos, has
trained 300 men, women and youths on inter-faith dialogue and mediation. In addition, the DREP
Center has embarked on research work in the area, to identify and harness alternative conflict
resolution mechanisms amongst the indigenous tribes of Jos, Plateau State, Nigeria.
We have established closer relations with both international Caritas sister agencies as well as the Church in
Myanmar, in particular in relation to peace-building. As a result, and under CAFOD’s co-ordination, joint
Caritas peace-building projects have been formalised. As part of these efforts, CAFOD and Cardinal Charles
Bo (Archbishop of Diocese of Yangon) are working together on establishing a peace resource centre for
Myanmar.
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An ongoing peace initiative, implemented by Diocesan Justice & Peace Commissions from Rwanda,
Burundi and DRC has been building mutual trust between cross-border communities to solidify relationships
among them and bring enabling peace. Specific activities have been developing permanent peace clubs,
managed by youths to educate for peace, fuel a peaceful co-existence, build youth connections and retain
the space for transforming negative prejudices and stereotypes for youths. The project has also been
improving peaceful co-habitation within cross-border communities (especially church leaders, youths and
women) when running electoral processes (in DRC and Rwanda), through training on responsible citizenship
and good electoral practices. All of these projects have been working with the strong involvement of women
and young people, to promote new spaces for dialogue.
In the midst of a dramatic upsurge in violence in El Salvador, CAFOD partners, the Jesuit-run Central
American University and the Legal Action Centre Maria Julia Hernandez, have been instrumental in
supporting committees of victims from the armed conflict, to advocate for the effective implementation of an
existing law to compensate them, and to bring to justice those who committed crimes against
them. Guatemala partner, CALDH, alongside its work of supporting victims, has been instrumental in the
successful prosecution of military officers responsible for the 1980s genocide of Mayan people. Caritas
Verapaz accompanied families in the exhumation of a mass grave with 600 women and children, discovered
within a military base. These emblematic cases have been important milestones in the struggle against
impunity of the military. In Honduras, CAFOD’s Jesuit partner, ERIC – Radio Progreso, has a national
audience and fearlessly offers the public a voice to denounce and campaign for the rights of groups of
survivors of human rights violations. For its work to promote freedom of expression, in 2015, ERIC received
Sweden’s prestigious RAFTO prize. In Nicaragua CAFOD support to the Diocese of Matagalpa has
protected the livelihoods of small farmers whose lands were under threat from a proposed mining concession
Plans to establish an open pit mine in one of Nicaragua´s richest agricultural and biodiverse areas were
cancelled in response to the Diocese’s support of the affected communities.

Effective partnerships
Outcome: A highly effective partnership approach will be consolidated and consistently applied to our
development work.

The International Partnership Manual was launched at the beginning of November 2015, which outlines
CAFOD’s approach to partnership, and how this can be supported in practice. The document contains
CAFOD’s Partnership Policy, including principles and standards, as well as guiding papers on working
across the Church, initiating & maintaining partnerships, partner exit, partner security, and capacity
strengthening, etc. Capacity strengthening is also an important part of our strategy under the DfiD
Programme Partnership Agreement (PPA) extension, in particular with a focus on partner direct funding,
which will support partners to strengthen their work in the area of institutional funding. Finally, it is a key
priority in International Development Group plans for 2016-17, and we are now working on developing a
baseline that will help monitor and evidence progress towards this.

Aim 3 - Achieving peace, security and recovery so that the poorest and most
disadvantaged communities live in a safe and secure environment, and are able
to minimise, survive and recover from crises.
Improving our response
Outcome: We will respond to new and on-going emergencies in a timely and effective manner.
This year we received 46 requests from sister agencies around the world to manage emergency
programmes. The overall majority of these requests for support were planned. Although our target
12

Trustees’ Report for the year ended 31 March 2016
is to respond in 24 hours after a decision has been made, in the majority of cases this year it has
not been appropriate to deploy staff within 24 hours based on the type of requests that we
received. Our average response time to deploy staff for spontaneous support requests was 9 days.
In 2015/16 we supported 85% of all requests made, which exceeded our target of 80%.
In order to make monitoring easier and improve our performance further we have developed a new
process of recording timelines for when decisions to respond are made.
Examples of deployments in 2015/16 include short to medium term deployments in;




Kenya – needs assessment
Nepal – WASH technical support
Philippines – humanitarian WASH programme evaluation




South Sudan – Gap filling while humanitarian recruitment takes place
DRC – protection training

We also deployed two staff to Caritas Lebanon Migrants Centre (CLMC), an Emergency Response
Officer (ERO) to help with Emergency Appeal (EA) proposals, report writing and
review/identification of complimentary partners in Lebanon, as well as the Humanitarian Policy
assistant to support the development of the advocacy and humanitarian policy strategy.
Of particular note was the support we provided to Trocaire/KMSS. This was the first deployment to
a sister agency where the staff member (Emergency Response Officer, WASH) was essentially
seconded to Trocaire, with the whole deployment fully cost recovered by CAFOD. We hope to
increase this kind of collaboration in the future.
Nearly one quarter of deployment requests (22%) were for WASH (Water Sanitation Hygiene)
support, with 15% of requests being for support in protection.

Stronger partners
Outcome: CAFOD partners will have greater organisational capacity to respond to and manage
emergencies.

We have made good progress with our partners in developing their organisational capacity to respond to and
manage emergencies should they arise. As set out in our plan last year, we have worked with partners on
developing emergency preparedness plans and test through simulations and helped partners to complete
capacity self-assessments.
We have provided support to partners involved in the European refugee crisis, which has involved pledging
support to 3 Caritas Internationalis Emergency Appeals – totalling £190,000 – and seconded technical
expertise. We have provided technical support to Caritas Hellas (Greece) in the fields of WASH and
emergency programme management. Our Communications Group also seconded a media officer to Caritas
Hellas in Greece for three weeks in January to provide communications training, gather news stories in
Lesbos and Idomeni, and provide content for the Caritas network for refugees’ appeal and communications.
We have provided support to ongoing and new projects in Nepal – Catholic Relief Services, Caritas
Switzerland (CACH), Cordaid and Community Action Nepal (CAN). This has included agreeing capacity
building plans, undertaking Disaster Risk Reduction (DRR) project activity planning and a project review
to capture learning from winterisation and shelter training activities. Our Communications Group also
seconded a media officer to Caritas Nepal to support Caritas sister agencies at the three-month
milestone. Jo Joyner became the first CAFOD celebrity to visit a humanitarian emergency, resulting in
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coverage on ITV Good Morning Britain, the Daily Mirror, Sunday People and numerous media outlets.
CAFOD and Trocaire in partnership for Nepal has supported the Caritas Nepal Coordination committee
with the secondment of a Trocaire staff member acting as Donor Liaison Coordinator. We also deployed
our Emergency Response Officer for WASH (Water Sanitation Hygiene) in order to support them with
the WASH component of their EA programme.
Within the Syria crisis response programme framework, we also deployed one of our Emergency
Response Officers and the Humanitarian Policy assistant to enhance competencies for Caritas
Lebanon Migrants Centre in the field of policy, advocacy, programme design and monitoring and
evaluation.
Our partners in the Philippines who are particularly vulnerable to natural disasters, are ready to respond
if a disaster strikes due to the ongoing partnership with our Asia and Middle East Team.
Our protection Emergency Response Officer (ERO) went to DRC to conduct Protection training with
Partners and CAFOD staff, as well as supporting the organisation and facilitation of the Country
Strategy workshop. This deployment ensured a much greater understanding of how to mainstream
protection throughout our programmes (humanitarian and long term). Our Senior Emergency Response
Officer (SERO) Africa also visited Ethiopia in mid-December to support all planning and response
activities of the CAFOD, SCIAF, Trocaire Working Together partnership (CST) in response to the
devastating effects of el Nino and get a better sense of the scale of the crisis.
Collaborating effectively
Outcome: We will strengthen our emergency response through strategic alliances so that we can
support communities more effectively.
We have continued to strengthen our strategic alliances to ensure that we are better able to respond
in emergency situations and support affected communities more effectively. In 2015/16 this has
included work in countries such as Nepal, South Sudan, Sierra Leone, the Philippines and Syria.
We have worked successfully in partnership with Trocaire in Nepal, following the devastating
earthquake in April 2015. Following our initial response to the disaster, this partnership has seen us
develop this relationship into a second phase of the emergency response (from relief to
reconstruction). We have developed collaborative arrangements, finalised the joint programme
framework, and established new shared partnerships and projects. We are also working with Caritas
Switzerland as well as CRS. Caritas Switzerland will focus on education and rebuilding schools,
whereas CRS will continue to work on shelter and winterisation.
In addition, we also worked in partnership with Caritas Norway in Nepal to secure funding from
NORAD to implement a winterisation project, which was designed to complement other project
activities being run by other agencies.
In response to the Syria crisis, and within the SYRIA crisis response Programme Framework, we have
maintained strong links with Trocaire, CRS and Secours Catholique. However, we have also developed
new partnerships with SCIAF, Caritas Belgium and Caritas Germany which will enable us to pull
resources together as part of a longer term engagement.
In the Philippines, we have continued with our strong partnership with Caritas Philippines/NASSA and
equally have enhanced partnership working with Caritas Switzerland, Cordaid and CRS.
In South Sudan, CAFOD and Trocaire in Partnership (CTP) secured funding from Caritas Swiss
(200,000 Euros), NCA (144,000 Euros) and Caritas New Zealand (60,649 Euros) for a project until
July 2016.
In Sierra Leone, CAFOD contributed £50,000 to support the Caritas Bo response to the September
floods. Regarding our ongoing Ebola response, we received an additional £468,000 from DFID to
continue with the Safe and Dignified burials and Fleet management activities which came to a close at
the end of February 2016.
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We continue to build strategic alliances for our humanitarian policy work, which supports our emergency
response. This has included close involvement and support to the Caritas Internationalis WHS Working
Group, steering the WG agenda, encouraging concerted actions and common approaches. We have also
built close bi-lateral working relationships on humanitarian policy with a number of Caritas Internationalis
members, including Caritas Norway, Cordaid and Trocaire.
Together with sister agencies Islamic Relief, Christian Aid and Tearfund we undertook research on
the role of faith leaders in the Ebola response in Sierra Leone and Liberia. The ensuing report was
submitted to influence World Humanitarian Summit process and the issue was referred to in the WHS
Consultations synthesis report. In October we held a launch event in Geneva with a panel of speakers
including the Head of the WHS Secretariat. The event was videoed and is now on-line and it received
some media attention. The findings were also used to influence WHO policies and practices, as well
as DfID, which was a major funder in the Sierra Leone response.

Aim 4 - Building our partnerships in the Catholic community, so that Catholics
in England and Wales are inspired to challenge global poverty through prayer,
action and giving, so transforming their own lives.
Reaching out
Outcome: We will reach out to potential supporters in the Catholic community.
In 2015/16, just over 104,000 supporters had engaged in our work, 3,000 more than last year. This
was well in excess of our 100,000 target. In a survey carried out in November 2015, 74% of Massgoing Catholics had heard of CAFOD, an increase on 2014 figures.
Over 18,000 supporters took action through the One Climate One World campaign and 92,685
donated in support of our work. Half of these supporters have a regular giving commitment and a
quarter gave in response to the Nepal emergency appeal. 13,500 supporters both donated and have
taken a campaign action. This figure is twice as high as last year.
With regard to the GCSE syllabus, we have worked with the three main exam boards to ensure CAFOD
remains an integral part of the new GCSE (e.g. learning about charities and CAFOD is now a compulsory
topic and Catholic Social Teaching has a stronger presence across the GCSE curriculum). We have
prioritised ensuring that, each year, 60,000 GCSE students have good learning content in line with each
exam board’s learning specifications. These are only now in the process of being approved by
Government for introduction in September 2016, but it means that we are on track to meet our target of
impacting 180,000 secondary pupils by 2018.
CAFOD helped to shape the narrative around the encyclical at its publication by briefing journalists
resulting in media coverage including an Evening Standard journalist’s visit to CAFOD programmes in
Brazil, front page article in the Observer, Daily Mail online, Telegraph, Huffington Post, four Catholic
papers, and interviews on BBC Politics Show, BBC Sunday Programme, BBC Breakfast and the World
Service. A press conference for the publication of Laudato Si’ held by Cardinal Nichols included CAFOD’s
Theological Advisor on the panel.

Strengthening relationships
Outcome: We will ensure continuing engagement with our existing supporters.
Research amongst Mass-going Catholics showed that 91% of supporters trust us a ‘great deal’ or
‘quite a lot’. This has risen from 88% in 2014/15.
The word cloud below illustrates the words that come to mind when supporters think about CAFOD.
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In 2015/16, over 2,200 parishes participated in our work either through making a donation or taking
a campaign action. This is 79% of all parishes in England and Wales and exceeded the target that
we set of between 2,100 and 2,200. These parishes took an average of 4.2 actions with CAFOD.
Currently, 1,450 schools have registered with CAFOD and a further 181 individuals have signed up
to CAFOD’s online site for our Catholic Primary Schools RE Scheme. Although this was slightly
below our target of 1,500 for the year, the percentage of active schools has increased from 54% in
2014/15 to 59% in 2015/16.

Volunteering
Outcome: We will maintain the number of volunteers and their activity will have increased.
In 2015/16, 62% of parishes in England and Wales had at least one active volunteer, this represents an
increase of 5% on last year and an achievement of our annual target (of between 60% and 65%). This
increase is the result of a significant increase in the number of parishes with more than one volunteer – 20%
of parishes have more than one volunteer, compared with 15% in the same period last year. We are
continuing active recruitment of parish based volunteers into 2016/17.
The number of volunteers on our database is 5,815, an increase of 1,572 compared with last year.
This is a great achievement and far above our target, which was to maintain our number of volunteers
at 4,150. A sustained focus on growing the number of volunteers in each parish has also worked well,
there are 400 more parish volunteers compared with the same time period last year. This should
increase opportunities for greater parish and parishioner participation in CAFOD’s work.
In addition to growth in parish volunteers, the campaigns team has made great strides in 2015/16 in enlisting
more MP correspondents and campaign multipliers which have boosted the volunteer numbers by over
1,000.
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Our number of schools volunteers have increased to 193 (from 164 in 2014/15) and the number of
visits carried out have increased to 909. Our records show that we now have 232 young leaders in the
2015 academic year, compared to 153 in the previous academic year and above our target for 2015
of 200. Most of these young leaders will have committed to fundraising and awareness raising in
support of CAFOD during Lent in their schools with quite a few offering to speak at Mass in their
parishes. More than 534 young people have been trained with CAFOD over the last three years.
Our gap year team had 8 participants in 2015/16. Over 100 activities have been delivered by these young
volunteers on CAFOD related themes. The volunteers have visited communities and partners in Peru and
Zimbabwe, posting blogs whilst travelling. These blogs account for six of the ten most viewed blogs on
CAFOD’s website in 2015/16.
As part of the Catholic community in England and Wales, we are committed to further strengthening our
partnership with volunteers by offering a wider range of volunteering opportunities; closer joint working
locally; increased engagement in shaping volunteer development; setting up a volunteer on line community;
learning from regular and systematic feedback from volunteers involved in our work.
Wealth sharing
Outcome: Income generation will increase in ways consistent with our Catholic values .
Although supporter income was down in 2015/16 (£32.1m compared to £36.9m in 2014/15), the number
of active donors went up to 92,685 (from 91,016 in 2014/15).
We were delighted to engage with a still growing number of supporters, in these more challenging times
for fundraising and we are continuing to look for new ways to inform our supporters of the needs of the
poorest and most marginalised around the globe; and to ask for their continued generous support, in
new ways that are consistent with our Catholic values. In addition to the general supporter income
raised to support our core programmes, we raised £9.2m of appeal and special programme funding
from supporters in the period (either directly or via the Disasters Emergency Committee), including
£5.6m for Nepal and £0.7m for the Refugee crisis.

In support of Aims 1-4
 We will complete a first phase of financial changes to reduce long term, core spend by £3 million
and we will allocate flexible, time limited investment to achieve strategic initiatives.
The changes undertaken as part of our strategic review are currently on track to deliver £2.864m
of budget reductions. Whilst this is broadly in line with the original target, the savings are now
being spread over four years (rather than three as originally envisaged) and there are £295,000 of
new core costs. These cover areas that we think are essential to effective future management of
the organisation and include elements such as internal audit and compliance resources and
development of the new supporter database system.
The trustees approved a £6m two-year investment programme in March 2015, including 55% for partner
grants.
 We will develop a three-year strategy so that staff are better equipped and enabled to contribute to
changed ways of working to achieve our strategic aims.
During 2015-16 we made significant changes to our organisation structure and to the processes and
systems that enable us to deliver our mission and vision. Throughout this period, we took time to
reflect on what we achieved but also on what we were learning through the change process itself.
This learning combined with a process of feedback from staff and an analysis of the culture and
behaviours we need to deliver the future plans for CAFOD enabled us to develop our “People
Framework”. The framework captures the four themes that exemplify how we work together as an
organisation; to listen and communicate well; take personal accountability for our work and behaviour;
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build strong leadership and management capability and collectively take responsibility for creating
good experience for people working here.
Examples of what this looks like in practice include:
 the CAFOD Leadership Group seeking and responding to feedback from staff and each other
on how to be a more effective leadership team
 the continuous development of internal courses on practical as well as theoretical aspects of
leadership and management
 the development of a “Managers Toolkit” that will provide specific guidance on the
expectations of managers. It also provides links to on-line support tools
 the introduction of an internal mentoring scheme
 the introduction of “Pulse Surveys” as a means of gathering feedback in a more dynamic and
responsive way. Decisions about what surveys needed their content is overseen by a staff
group which includes representation from one of our Unite Union Officers
 the launch of a new intranet site together with a range of communication tools that will enable
us to work more collaboratively across our many locations and to share information and
learning more effectively
As we continue to embed the changes over the next year, the People Framework and its associated
guidance and tools will continue to evolve to meet the needs of the organisation.
 We will heighten due diligence procedures in countries under government sanction and at a
greater risk of terrorism.
We have extended the current screening of partners against lists of proscribed organisations to
screen banks in advance of making international grant payments.
We are continuing to pilot heightened due diligence procedures for grants to Iraq, Syria and Gaza,
which require further partner screening and additional risk assessment of projects covering
procurement, sub-grantees, money transfer routes, cash distribution to beneficiaries and beneficiary
selection systems.
We have undertaken a second DEC organised self-assessment, comparing CAFOD’s procedures to
manage the risk of the diversion of charitable funds for terrorist use, against a comprehensive list of
good practice standards developed by DEC member agencies.

Other factors affecting performance and achievement of our objectives
The publication of Laudato Si’ has invigorated the linkage between CAFOD’s strategic framework ‘Just One
World’, which sets out the four aims for our work to 2020 and our mandate to help inform and mobilise the
Catholic community in England and Wales to address issues of poverty and injustice across the world, in
ways that also support transformational change in our own lives. The influence of Pope Francis is
rippling out across the global Church and Laudato Si’ offers us not just an inspiring way forward, but
fundamentally challenges our society, the Church and CAFOD as an agency of change. Our future plans for
2016/17 and beyond reflect the adoption of Laudato Si’ as a way to inspire our works to relieve suffering
in crisis situations, to support the poorest and most marginalised in securing the essential components of
a dignified and sustainable life, and to help them and others to change the structures that keep people poor,
oppressed and marginalised.
Whilst working in environments where the poorest and most marginalised peoples are to be found, we have
faced increasing physical security challenges, often coupled with a greater risk of the potential for aid
resources to be affected by fraud, loss or corruption, or even inadvertently diverted to terrorist organisations.
CAFOD has responded by clearly identifying these risks and actively managing them. We have invested in
appropriate resources focused on security, internal audit, financial control and management systems,
development and dissemination of integrity policies and other systems resources, to build up sufficient
organisation, expertise and capacity to deal with these significant challenges.
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Following the tragic death of Mrs Olive Cooke in May 2015, the summer saw a flurry of media coverage on
charity fundraising, leading to a parliamentary review and a requirement to overhaul current regulatory
bodies and regulations. Responses to some CAFOD fundraising asks were depressed over the summer but
then recovered. There has been no increase in the low number of complaints received by CAFOD about
fundraising.
The main impact has been from the reduction in volume of prospective supporters we could contact for our
fundraising; stemming from greater restrictions on direct marketing; changes to what charities are permitted
to send people and how we can use their records. Since late 2015 we have been able to telephone only 25%
of those we previously could. We have also used direct mail-shots in the past to successfully engage new
donors, utilising commercially available mailing lists but, likewise, late last year these lists ceased to be used.
We are actively developing alternatives to engage with new supporters and to diversify from 'cold'
recruitment by mail or telephone. We have reviewed all relevant operations, rules and compliance. We
anticipate the need to obtain and prove consent (the exact required form is yet to be determined) and so
changes are being implemented across our operation. We are offering more and clearer opportunities to optout of fundraising as required by revised codes of practice from the Institute of Fundraising. We are
integrating permission into every opportunity, not waiting to be told to seek it. We are confident that this
approach will minimise any long term impact on our fundraising activities as we continue to adopt emerging
best practice in the charity sector.
CAFOD has set aside £0.6 million to develop and implement a new supporter and volunteer database
management system which will be brought into use in 2016-17. This will provide new functionality and
benefits in terms of more tailored communications and fundraising asks to our donors and the ability to
engage new and existing supporters even more, in terms of advocacy work, campaigns, solidarity activities
and networking events. In addition, we will have the flexibility to maintain and adopt evolving best practice in
terms of fundraising guidelines, future legislation, data protection and cyber security. A further, £1.5 million of
designated funding has been set aside, over a 3-year period, to fund smaller fundraising investment
initiatives to support specific key funding streams such as, legacies, major donors, institutional funding and
greater engagement and funding collaboration with our sister agencies within the Caritas family. We expect
this to improve the net return from fundraising activities for in the medium to long term, with underlying
general income stabilising over the next two years before starting to increase.

Financial review
The hugely generous support that CAFOD receives from those in the Catholic community of England and
Wales continues to underpin all CAFOD’s work.
During the year we received just over £53 million; with two thirds donated from supporters and the balance
raised from Caritas and other Catholic agencies, the UK government and other governmental and
institutional donors.
Since 1 April 2015, CAFOD has operated as a charitable company. This has had no significant financial
impact and there have been no issues arising from the change in structure from a trust to a charitable
company.
This accounting period is the first in which CAFOD has adopted new accounting policies in certain areas, in
order to comply with the requirements of the new Charities SORP (FRS102). The impact this has had on the
Financial Statements (with appropriate adjustments to the prior year comparative figures), has not been
material and is detailed in full in the notes to the accounts, in particular note 18 on pension liability and note
25 the detailed changes arising from the application of FRS 102.
In the 2014–15 trustees report, we set out our renewed commitment to growing the resources allocated to
our international partners. This required us to make significant savings in our core organisational costs and
this process of change and transition impacted our 2015-16 cost base. We carried £600k of identified
transitional costs to support this change process (2016: £450k, 2015 £150k), with a further £300k to be spent
over the next 12-18 months. This includes redundancy costs. We have also invested in our support costs to
better serve the organisational needs. However, of the £5.7million spent this financial year on support costs,
the additional provision for pension contributions added £219k (2015; £132k). Additional provisions should
not be required going forward. Support costs remained below 10% of our total expenditure in 2015-16.
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Principal Funding Sources
The principal funding sources for the year were from supporter donations and legacies and grants from
Caritas and other funding agencies and from governments and institutional donors.

Income

09/10

10/11

11/12

12/13

13/14

14/15

15/16

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

£m

Supporter general donations
Supporter legacy donations
Supporter emergency appeal donations direct
Supporter emergency appeal donations via DEC
Grants from Caritas and other Catholic agencies
Grants from governments and institutional donors
Trading and interest earned

20.7
5.0
6.4
0.6
4.2
11.6
0.6

22.4
6.4
4.6
3.9
3.2
14.9
0.3

23.6
6.1
6.3
3.5
7.5
13.8
0.4

23.5
7.4
1.3
1.3
3.7
10.7
0.4

18.4
7.3
8.7
1.2
3.0
12.4
0.3

25.7
7.7
3.8
2.6
2.7
13.3
0.3

21.2
5.3
5.3
3.9
4.5
12.6
0.3

Total incoming resources

49.1

55.7

61.2

48.3

51.3

56.1

53.1

Supporter general donations and legacies support the CAFOD’s overall programmes and supporter appeal
donations enable us to respond to major humanitarian disasters.
Supporter appeal donations received in the year included £5.6m for the Nepal Earthquake response, £1.1m
for the continuing Philippines Typhoon Haiyan response, £0.7m for the Refugee Crisis, £0.5m for the Ebola
Response Programme and £0.5m for the Syria Crisis response.
Grants from Caritas and other Catholic agencies support specific international programmes including
particular emergencies responses that CAFOD are leading on behalf of Caritas Internationalis. Funds raised
during the year include £1.1m for the Eritrea programme, £1m for our South Sudan programme, £0.7m for
the Nepal Earthquake response and £0.7m for our Sudan programme.
Grants from governments and institutional donors includes the Programme Partnership Agreement grant
from the UK government Department for International Development that provides strategic funding for
CAFOD work and grants for particular programmes. Funds raised during the year include £6.8m from the UK
government, a further grant of £1.9m from a pooled UK and Irish Government fund for the Ebola response,
£1.6m from the Start Fund and £1.3m from United Nations agencies, primarily funding our Sudan
programme.

Expenditure
Together with funds in hand at the start of the financial year, the income raised enabled us to deliver an
overall programme of over £57 million during 2015/16; with £5.8 million (10%) spent on the raising funds and
£51.6 million (90%) spent on CAFOD’s charitable programmes. In doing this we achieved our objective of
growing the resources allocated to partners and we were able to allocate nearly 55% (2015: 52%) of our total
expenditure to grants to partners, as illustrated in the table below.
Our charitable programme is in four parts; with £24 million spent on international development, £20.7m on
disaster relief, £2.9m on development education and £4m on advocacy and campaigning.
Expenditure

Grants
£m

Raising funds
Chariable programme
International development
Disaster relief
Development education
Advocacy and campaiging
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Activities Support
£m
£m

15/16
£m

0.0

5.0

0.8

5.8

10%

15.0
16.0
0.1
0.2

6.3
3.5
2.4
3.2

2.7
1.2
0.4
0.5

24.0
20.7
2.9
4.0

42%

31.3

20.4

5.6

57.4

55%

35%

10%

36%
5%
7%
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Financial position and reserves policy
The Trustees review CAFOD’s reserves policy each year, ensuring a balance between spending on
the immediate needs of charitable programmes and setting aside a reserve to protect our work, by
providing time to adjust to any sudden large scale operational challenges in our overseas work or to
changing financial circumstances in the amount of funds available.
The level of CAFOD’s reserves and details of the other individual funds CAFOD holds are provided in
notes 20 and 21 to the financial statements. These funds and reserves are amounts held at 31 March
2016 in accordance with our reserves policy.
At 31 March 2016, we held total funds and reserves of £28.7 million - £9.9 million general funds;
£13.0 million designated by the trustees for specific purposes; £5.8 million restricted funds in hand
including a permanent endowment fund of £0.5 million.
At March 15
£m

At March 16
£m

Stabilisation fund
Unallocated reserve
General funds

9.0
2.2
11.2

9.0
0.9
9.9

Fixed assets fund
Programme fund
Designated funds

5.8
9.7
15.5

5.7
7.3
13.0

0.5
5.8
6.3

0.5
5.3
5.8

33.0

28.7

Permanent endowment
Programme funds
Restricted funds
Total funds and reserves

The trustees have established a desired stabilisation fund, which contributes to limit the risk of
disruption to CAFOD’s charitable programmes associated with the financial risks the organisation
faces. Alongside the potential risks associated with the assets that CAFOD holds and with potential
unforeseen costs, the trustees consider the main financial risk to be an unexpected downturn in
budgeted general income. To cope with any unexpected downturn in budgeted general income
without damaging the long-term programme commitments that CAFOD makes to its partners, CAFOD
would need at least two years to adjust these programmes. Based upon a possible shortfall of 15 per
cent in the budgeted general income and the need for two years to adjust programmes, the trustees
have established the target level of the stabilisation fund at 30 per cent of the planned annual general
income for coming years, which equates to approximately £9 million.
At 31 March 2016, general funds of £9.9m are available, so that our target level for £9.0 million for the
stabilisation fund is met and there is a further £0.9 million available, which the Trustees will allocate to
specific programmes in 2016/17.
We also held £13.0 million designated funds at the balance sheet date - £5.7 million set aside to fund
the fixed assets that are required for CAFOD’s operations and £7.3 million already assigned by the
Trustees to be spent in the coming years on specific activities.
At the end of the year we also held £5.3 million of restricted programme funds, including balances
from the ongoing West Africa Ebola, Philippines Typhoon and Syria crisis emergency response
programmes.
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Investment Policy
The objective of CAFOD’s investment policy is to maintain high liquidity whilst ensuring maximum security by
avoiding risk to capital, meeting ethical considerations and achieving the best possible return within these
limiting parameters.
To meet this objective, investments are made in Sterling deposits with financial institutions that hold a high
credit rating, spreading the total invested across fixed terms up to 24 months and limiting the amount
invested with any one financial institution. CAFOD’s current policy is to restrict deposits to UK incorporated
banks that are regulated by UK banking authorities.
As well as Sterling deposits, CAFOD maintains balances in Sterling, US Dollars and Euros for transactional
purposes to cover ongoing expenditure. These “transactional” balances are held on instant access with the
Royal Bank of Scotland.
In addition, CAFOD has a permanent endowment fund, the capital element of which is held in perpetuity and
from which the income is applied to CAFOD’s work. To maintain the capital value of this fund, meet its ethical
standards and achieve the best possible return, this fund is invested in an ethical UK common investment
fund.
CAFOD’s investment policy is reviewed by the Finances committee, acting as an investment sub-committee,
and is approved by the trustees annually. The Finances committee, reporting to the trustees, monitor
investment performance and compliance with investment policy quarterly. Going forward the Finance, Legal,
Audit and Risk committee will act as the investment sub-committee.
The trustees have confirmed that the objectives of CAFOD’s investment policy were met during the year.

Factors affecting the financial performance and position going forward
The DFID Programme partnership agreement (PPA) grant has been received by CAFOD for a number of
years (£4.2m per annum) and was unrestricted in nature. The PPA was received in full in this financial year,
but DFID have confirmed that the programme will end in its current form and, going forward, we are waiting
for the outcome of a DFID review to understand the future implications. However, any future similar DFID
funding scheme is likely to more restricted in nature. For 2016-17, a 9-month extension to the PPA was
agreed and CAFOD will receive a proportionately reduced grant, that will be earmarked to specific
programmes agreed with DFID. CAFOD anticipated the impact of this change in funding from DFID and
other future uncertainty, by reducing its long term core spending commitments, (which relied on this level of
unrestricted income), by approximately £3m per annum.
CAFOD are monitoring the impact of the more difficult environment and new best practices for fundraising in
the UK, together with the potential for new legislation and further Charity Commission guidance in this area,
on Supporter income currently generated from such fundraising activities. We have seen some reduction in
income towards the end of 2015 and into 2016, but we have a fully funded contingency reserve to cover the
eventuality of any significant income shortfall due to these factors and we are confident that we can adopt
best practice in the sector, as the guidelines and legislation emerge, and overcome any financial impact over
time, by engaging appropriately with our strong and loyal Supporter base. The ongoing development of our
new Supporter database will give us the flexibility to adopt best practice in recording and monitoring
supporter permissions and preferences, with minimal incremental expenditure.
The recent decision by the UK electorate to leave the European Union (EU) has added to the uncertainty
over a range of issues affecting CAFOD and other UK based INGO’s. The immediate depreciation of the
pound may impact currency payments and particularly payments to our partners over time. In the short term,
CAFOD has a policy of covering part of our expected dollar needs for the year ahead to protect us from
sudden and unexpected currency depreciation. CAFOD finance and programme staff will be working closely
together over the coming months to manage this situation in the medium to longer term. Any additional
volatility of the UK economy may further impact our supporter fundraising income, as our supporters face an
insecure financial future. When and to what extent this may occur is difficult to predict, but CAFOD will be
mindful of this and continue to practice best stewardship of our finances. The process and timetable for EU
exit is also uncertain at this stage. CAFOD generally receives between £2m - £3m per year from EU
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institutions, consisting of Europe Aid (development funding) and some from ECHO (humanitarian funding).
The longer term impact on this relatively small part (approximately 5 percent) of CAFOD’s total income,
coming from the EU (defined as EU institutions and EU member states), is unclear.

Risks and uncertainties
CAFOD’s work to eradicate poverty is inherently risky, particularly in fragile or conflict-prone countries, or
when speaking out on difficult or controversial issues.
Managing risks effectively is integral to the achievement of our essential purpose, and governance
structures are in place to ensure the early identification and mitigation of key risks, and support the
delivery of our strategy.
The trustees are ultimately responsible for risk management and the effectiveness of CAFOD’s
internal control systems. The major risks to which CAFOD is exposed, as identified by the trustees,
have been reviewed and systems or procedures have been established to manage those risks.
The board has considered and approved the risk management policy and its appetite for risk. It has
now delegated the regular review of the risk management process to the Finance, Legal, Audit and
Risk committee, which also oversees the work of the internal audit function and receives regular
reports. The committee will carry out the following reviews to inform this task:





an annual review of CAFOD’s risk management processes
a quarterly review of the adequacy of control identification and ongoing monitoring of
compliance
a rolling quarterly review of operational risk registers
an annual review of the 'Risk Assurance Status' for each of the key organisational level risks
identified.

The Finance, Legal, Audit and Risk committee is made up of three trustees and a number of
independent advisers. Its meetings are regularly attended by members of the CAFOD Leadership
Group (CLG) so they can participate in cross-organisational risk management discussions.
CAFOD’s systems and procedures are designed to manage rather than eliminate risk and provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
Senior management ensures that day-to-day risk management processes are embedded across the
organisation through the effective implementation of policies and procedures. Risk registers are
developed at the following levels;


Corporate




Group





maintain corporate risk register detailing:
 key risks with impact and likelihood rating
 risk attitude noting whether current position is; accepted/not accepted and
requiring action/unacceptable and requiring immediate action
 key mitigating controls
 mechanisms to assure controls are effective
 current developments

risk registers are maintained by all groups
some individual teams maintain registers where relevant

International Programme Cycle Management
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 risk assessments are included at:
 strategic level: within formal Country Strategies
 partner level: through organisational and financial management assessment
 project level: which mandates safeguarding and supply chain assessment


Change projects
 major change projects are managed in accordance with CAFOD Project Management
Framework which requires:
 risk assessment within Project Initiation Document
 regular reporting on managing of risks

The corporate risk register is reviewed and updated annually by the CAFOD Leadership Group and it
is formally reviewed and approved by the board, also on an annual basis.
To ensure that the controls on which they rely are effective, the Trustees have mandated the Finance,
Legal, Audit and Risk committee to oversee a risk-based internal audit function. Internal audit is
responsible for assessing the effectiveness of internal controls against a schedule of audits approved
annually. The results of the audits are reported to management, and summarised for the Finance,
Legal, Audit and Risk committee. Management is responsible for implementing agreed actions arising
from the internal audit process. Their progress is tracked and regularly reviewed by senior
management and reported to the Finance, Legal, Audit and Risk committee.

Principal Risks
The following areas have been identified as those in which our principal corporate risks fall. For each
risk an indication is given as to the work we do to mitigate the possibility of that risk occurring or
mitigate the effects if it were to occur.
Loss of Supporter Base/Funding
Risks



Loss of Supporter base as a result of alienating members of the Catholic community,
increasing competition from other international agencies and/or a consequence of the current
economic climate.
Inability to demonstrate evidence of impact of CAFOD’s work and aid effectiveness leading to
a loss in institutional funding and confidence of supporters

Risk management
Aim 4 of CAFOD’s strategic framework ‘Just one World’ highlights the cross organisational importance
of focussing on building long-term partnerships in the Catholic community of England and Wales. In
addition to this we are continuing to implement the supporter partnership programme and a supporter
strategy that focuses the whole of CAFOD on the importance of supporter partnership.
A senior leadership team (Supporter Strategy Group) holds the oversight of our engagement with the
Catholic community in England (and Wales) and is responsible for nurturing and growing our
supporter base.
We have also kept in place continued close monitoring of supporter income during the recent period
of economic downturn and organisational change and maintained a risk register for both the overall
Supporter Partnership Programme and change proposals impacting on the Catholic community as a
result of our Towards 2020 changes.
Our supporter data systems are being fully renewed to ensure we use technology appropriately to
help build our relationships with supporters and potential supporters and we are significantly
increasing our supporter focus by developing our capacity to listen and respond to supporter
feedback.
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In terms of evidencing, major work is being undertaken on how to evidence outcomes from Just One
World, developing a bank of common indicators available across our programmes and a corporate
dashboard, monitoring key financial and operational indicators.
The Countries in which we operate
Risks




Non-compliance with established systems or overstretching international programme capacity
to deliver, leading to major failures in programme delivery or loss of institutional funding
Apparent failure to apply adequate security arrangements with regard to staff/persons
travelling or working overseas (including national staff and partners) on CAFOD business
which results in a staff member being injured or killed
In relation to work in high risk environments, non-compliance with sanctions or diversion of
CAFOD funds for terrorist/inappropriate use, leading to major reputational damage and/or
regulatory/legal challenge

Risk management
We have a clear accountability framework, operate supply chain management and have an
institutional contracts database in place, which is working effectively. We develop Country Strategies
for all countries/regions we work in, with 3-year resource mapping to help align planning and
resourcing more closely. We have introduced a new approach to Emergency Response surge
capacity management and deployment, with new corporate processes and protocols in place. Risks in
international programme work are held and regularly monitored by the International Programme
Strategy Group (2 risks every meeting) and all major International Development initiatives that impact
significantly on CAFOD as a whole, are agreed by CAFOD Leadership Group.
In terms of security, corporate responsibilities are clearly defined and we have a dedicated Security
Adviser post in place. The CAFOD Security Policy gives overall principles for CAFOD management of
security and the CAFOD Security Manual sets out practical security procedures worldwide. We also
have up to date Security Plans for each country, which set out context specific security procedures.
We have developed and implemented clear and effective Crisis Management procedures, with
security risk management forming part of the International Development Group Risk Register. Staff
security training standards and programme are in place, which are regularly updated and rigorously
applied.
Catholic Identity
Risks


CAFOD activity is restricted; because of an allegation or incident which contravenes Catholic
Church teaching or Charity Commission regulations; or because of threats of litigation

Risk Management
We have a clear process for developing and approving CAFOD advocacy and policy in line with
charitable objects, Church teaching, partner experience and desired change objectives (includes
assessment on ambition versus risk with protocol for sign off at leadership level).
Sign off procedures are in place for policy, campaigning and communications, as is a crisis
management process and urgent sign off procedure. We always seek legal advice on issues deemed
sensitive from experienced lawyers.
We are members of an active INGO community of practice which provides us with guidance (including
legal advice) on any changes in legislation and on good practice and we work in coalition (Catholic or
general civil society) on the most sensitive issues. We also share information at an early stage with
cross party Parliamentarians for input and advice.
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Advocacy and Campaigning
Risks


Change in government policy impacts on CAFOD’s work

Risk Management
We have developed continued good relations with the Secretary of State, ministers, advisers, civil
servants and shadow teams and are a trusted recipient of DFID programme funding, demonstrating
roots with partners in the global south. We have developed a strong voice through BOAG and BOND,
we enjoy positive engagement with MPs and Parliamentary Friends of CAFOD and have fostered
continuing good relationships between the Holy See and UK government. Staff involved in advocacy
have a clear understanding of the context of the role and the responsibilities and limitations of
campaigning organisations, as laid out in Charity Commission guidance.
Human Resources
Risks



Major fraud or other major financial internal/external scandal at staff, office or partner level
(UK or international)
Being found to be negligent or passive in addressing the issue of staff, volunteers,
consultants or partners using their position to exploit or abuse others.

Risk management
We have well developed systems in place. Examples include;
 Knowledge of partner; long term relationship/organisational assessment/partner financial
profiling/evaluations/visits
 Feedback loop; internal audit/fraud policy/whistle blowing policy/complaints handling
 Financial systems, policies and resources (centralised/in donor processing/in international
offices) with sufficient organisation, expertise and capacity to manage CAFOD’s systems
 Financial planning and monitoring cycle in place with clear delegation of authority
 Centralised treasury with restricted cash flow through international offices and dual
authorisation of payments
We have developed a framework that encompasses safeguarding of all vulnerable adults and our complaints
management system allows non-specific or anonymous complaints to be recorded. Reports are sent to the
Safeguarding Development Officer and Child Protection Officer (Head of People and Performance) for
analysis. Our Code of Behaviour includes appropriate references and we have a Focal Point Network to
provide trained points of contacts for safeguarding issues for each group (CAFOD wide) and members in
major overseas locations.

All staff, Trustees and Volunteers are made aware of the Code of Behaviour. Since 2014 it has been a
requirement that the Code is signed on appointment.

Plans for the future 2016-17
Our forward plan sets out how we wish to make progress towards our four aims. After a period of
strategic reflection, we are committed to prioritising three enablers, which we believe will deliver our
aims more effectively:




Shifting power and influence to the global South.
Strengthening our partnerships internationally and amongst our network of dedicated
volunteers in the Catholic community.
Increasing collaboration with like-minded agencies to overcome poverty and injustice.
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Aim One - Increasing power and influence so that women and men in the poorest
and most disadvantaged communities are able to influence the systems,
decisions and resources affecting them, living under governments, institutions
and global structures that are just and accountable.
Laudato Si’ will have influenced the Catholic Community in their view of, and their role in, bringing
about progress.



Practical illustrations or operationalised examples of Laudato Si’ will be communicated
o Changes to the school curriculum mean 8,000-10,000 young Catholics will be presented
with the key messages of Laudato Si’
CAFOD and the Catholic Community will have reflected and changed practices and behaviours in
response to Laudato Si’
o At least 350 people will take simple actions such as switching their energy provider.
o 100 parishes will engage with our Laudato Si’ resources and activities.
o 10 new communities will register for the Livesimply Parish Award and with 4 Awarded.

Women and men living in poverty will have greater access to clean energy.




All UK government departments will have committed to phasing out support for fossil fuels in
developing countries and to increase their support (financial for clean energy access)
o Public commitment to ending subsidies for fossil fuels in developing countries and to
increase their financial support for clean energy access
New programmes on resilience and sustainability will be designed to include clean energy, and
greater resources will be delivered/channelled into these areas, in line with Country Strategies

Governance and human rights issues in the global South, especially in African countries, will have
improved, due to the intervention of the Catholic Church.




The Church will have meaningfully engaged and influenced political processes such as on national
elections, resource allocations, budget monitoring, etc.
CAFOD will have enabled the Church to actively engage on a national level on identified issues such
as the Sustainable Development Goals, climate change and indigenous people’s rights.
Key recommendations from Action for Better Governance will be followed up and delivered
o 9 of 13 recommendations within Action for Better Governance will be delivered by March
2017

Aim Two - Promoting Sustainable Development so that women and men in the
poorest and most disadvantaged communities have access to the essential
services and resources they need to live sustainably, with dignity.
Southern based partners will have strengthened capacity, so that they can deliver effective &
accountable programmes.




Strategic partners will be supported to strengthen their capacity in context-specific areas such as
gender, accountability, Child Protection and others.
o CAFOD will develop a model for increasing partner capacity to access direct institutional
fundraising.
Individualised capacity development plans for strategic partners will be gradually introduced
following joint assessments with partners and investment in their capacity strengthening.

CAFOD Country Strategies will continue to be jointly developed and implemented with meaningful
input from strategic partners and with demonstration/evidence of impact and change.


CAFOD Country Strategies will effectively integrate long-term development, advocacy and
emergency response work and bring about positive changes in the lives of people living in poverty
and affected by inequality at individual, societal and systemic levels.
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Negotiations with partners will help to build/inform CAFOD’s strategic focus and approach in-country.
o New Country Strategies will be developed for Bangladesh, Cambodia, Nigeria and Zambia

Laudato Si’ will influence and inform development and implementation of our programmes/outcomes
for people living in poverty.



A set of tools and guidance will be developed to inform the design of new programmes
A review of our existing programmes will take place in Autumn of 2016 to ensure that they reflect the
message of the encyclical
o Annual Country Strategy reflections will demonstrate progress against recommendations
from the Encyclical refection process

Aim Three - Achieving peace, security and recovery so that women and men in
the poorest and most disadvantaged communities live in a safe and secure
environment and are able to minimise, survive and recover from crises
CAFOD will respond to new and ongoing emergencies in a timely and effective manner.



CAFOD will effectively manage its emergency and humanitarian capacity to respond to requests for
support.
Surge capacity will be available to deploy within 72 hours of an emergency
o Training will be provided to CAFOD staff on the Core Humanitarian Standards, Transforming
Surge Modules, Needs Assessment, Proposal Development
o At least 80% of surge requests related to our niche areas will be supported

Southern humanitarian organisations will strengthen their capacity to lead, influence, prepare for and
deliver emergency responses.


CAFOD’s contribution will help the START Network’s Shifting the Power project to deliver on its
aims.

CAFOD will lead ncreased collaboration and building of alliances through Caritas, START, and other
INGOs so that we can respond more effectively to emergencies.


Joint programme and funding opportunities will be explored with Caritas Australia, Caritas Denmark,
Caritas Japan, Caritas Suisse, Trócaire, Islamic Relief and others.

CAFOD will develop effective humanitarian water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) & Protection
capacity, becoming recognised for supporting partners and Caritas agencies in these specialisms.



Our expertise will continue to be utilised by Caritas Internationalis and other sister agencies.
We will strengthen the skillset in WASH and protection amongst CAFOD staff and increase our
support to those programmes.

CAFOD will strengthen external humanitarian policy, continue to provide a leadership role across the
sector and ensure integration of policy within programme delivery.



We will participate actively in the World Humanitarian Summit in May 2016, presenting the Charter
for Change and encouraging other NGOs to sign up.
We will work with CRS on the Grand Bargain to improve the flow of funding direct to southern
humanitarian actors.

Aim Four - Building our partnerships in the Catholic community so that
Catholics in England and Wales are inspired to challenge global poverty through
prayer, action and giving, so transforming their own lives
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CAFOD will enable more parishioners, children & young people and volunteers across all
generations to participate in our work as an expression of their faith, especially in the context of
Laudato Si’ and the Papal Bull of the Extraordinary Jubilee of Mercy.








CAFOD will maintain the number of parishes, schools and individuals who participate in our work
through Pray, Give, Act at 2015/16 levels.
 110,000 individuals will take an average of 3 actions
 70% of parishes will take an average of 4 actions
 60% of Catholic schools will take at least one action
Working with the communications group, all supporter facing groups will ensure that the majority of
external content outputs are tied to CAFOD key performance indicators (KPIs).
At least 200 Young people (11-30 years) will commit to leading and influencing others through
CAFOD schemes.
We will seek increased volunteer activity with CAFOD’s work.
 68% of parishes in England and Wales will have at least 1 volunteer, of these 23%
will have more than one volunteer.
 220 school volunteers will make a total of 900 visits to schools
Trust in CAFOD from the Catholic Community in England & Wales will be maintained at around 8590%.

In Support of Aims 1- 4
For the coming year and beyond, our internally-focused priorities are all about ensuring that we are
able to embed, sustain and realise the benefits from the changes we have made. To enable us to
achieve this, we will be doing a number of things:
 Completing the remaining projects within our change programme and monitoring the impact
and benefits of the changes. We will also be updating our approach to change and project
management in the light of the learning from our recent change programme
 Improving a number of key policies, processes and IT systems to enable us to work in a
flexible and responsive way in an increasingly volatile and complex environment.
 Implementing our “People Framework”; a common set of behaviours that define how we work
together as colleagues. Underpinning the People Framework will be a development
programme supported by a range of learning materials and activities
 Maintaining our supporter base and exploring new options for generating income while
continuing to practice best stewardship of our finances in light of a changing political and
economic environment.
 Centralising and revising our approach to evidencing both the efficiency of our organisational
performance and the effectiveness of our work with supporters, partners and communities

Structure, governance and management
Legal structure and governing document
CAFOD is the official overseas development agency of the Catholic Church in England and Wales. It has its
origins in the action of Catholic women’s organisations that held the first ‘Family Fast Day’ in 1960.
Subsequently, in 1962, CAFOD was formally established by the Bishops of England and Wales to address
the concern of the Catholic community about the needs and problems of developing countries.
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As reported last year, the assets and operations of CAFOD were transferred from the original charitable trust
(charity registration number 285776) to a new charitable company limited by guarantee (company number
9387398, charity registration number 1160384) with effect from 1 April 2015. The new charitable company
has the same name, objects and initial trustees as the original charitable trust. The new legal structure:




is more appropriate for the nature, complexity and scale of CAFOD’s work;
is clearer to understand by those CAFOD has dealings with (funders, international governments and
regulators, partner organisations, suppliers and other key stakeholders), making it easier to set up
agreements and other contracts, and
provides a more appropriate governance framework, including relevant limits on the liability of
trustees.

CAFOD is therefore constituted as a charitable company limited by guarantee and not having a share capital.
The governing document is the Memorandum and Articles of Association.

Board of Trustees
CAFOD is governed by four Member Trustees and a wider group of Trustees, who together form the Board
of Trustees. The Trustees for the purposes of charity law and regulation are also the directors of the
charitable company for the purposes of company law.
Member Trustees are appointed by the existing Member Trustees with their appointment ratified by the
standing committee of the Bishops’ Conference of England and Wales. The Member Trustees hold a limited
number of reserved powers, including the appointment of other Trustees and the power to amend CAFOD’s
Memorandum and Articles. All other powers, including the establishment of specialist committees and
general responsibility for the running of CAFOD are vested with the full Board of Trustees.
The Board of Trustees meets formally four times a year, together with the corporate leadership team. One of
these quarterly meetings takes place over a residential weekend, to allow time for a deeper understanding of
CAFOD’s programme of work. Trustees have an induction programme and some chair specialist committees
and involve themselves with the work of different sections, international regional teams and diocesan offices
to ensure that collectively they have the overview necessary for the proper governance of CAFOD.
The whole Trustee body brings a wide range of skills and experience from a variety of backgrounds including
finance, government and the charity sector, as well as from the Catholic community. In the last year we have
carried out a Trustee Ways of Working Review which has introduced a number of positive changes in the
way Trustees are supported, new Trustees are inducted and, following the completion of a Trustee Skills
Audit, the way new Trustees are identified and recruited. It has also led to the introduction of two new subcommittees (Strategy and Performance Committee and Finance, Legal, Audit and Risk Committee).

Decision making
The Board of Trustees is the custodian of CAFOD’s vision, mission and values; they approve strategy,
structure, corporate plans and budgets and ensure the organisation is effective and accountable. The
Trustees appoint the Director of CAFOD and have delegated to the Director and management of CAFOD the
responsibility for the approval of grants to partners. Grants are made within agreed strategies and
programmes of work on the basis of proposals that are subject to formal appraisal, approval, monitoring and
evaluation.

Remuneration policies
As an agency of the Catholic Church CAFOD believes that all employees should be treated with
dignity and respect. This includes setting remuneration packages that reflect the skills and experience
required in particular roles. It also requires careful consideration of our responsibility as stewards of
the resources entrusted to us by the Catholic community.
In setting our pay we consider:
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Is it appropriate? (does it reflect our role as an agency of the Catholic Church and our values,
particularly of dignity and stewardship)
Is the salary a living wage? (does it meet basic needs as a minimum?)
Is it equitable? (does it recognise the individual’s contribution appropriately?)
Is it sustainable? (is it acceptable within the economic climate in which CAFOD is operating)

CAFOD’s salary scales are benchmarked within the NGO sector and are generally around the 50th
percentile.
CAFOD has a defined set of country-specific salary scales. An individual staff member is paid
according to their band/grade and incremental point. The incremental point is determined by the
length of experience in their current job. CAFOD does not offer any performance-related or other form
of bonuses. Staff have access to view the salary scales for every band/grade and location.
CAFOD’s position is that salary scales are reviewed annually, and may be increased, in line with the
principles below:




cost of living – specifically using the consumer price index in the UK (current figure, not year to
year comparison) and the IMF forecast inflation rate for all other countries in which we work
pay comparability – benchmarked within our own sector but also referencing public and private
sector pay increase estimates
affordability – impact on CAFOD’s overall cost base
o appropriateness – based on our values and taking into account the perspective of
principal stakeholders e.g. supporters, partners and trustees
o the relationship between different levels of salary is an important factor in remuneration
policy and CAFOD aims to set a UK salary scale where:
 the ratio between the highest and lowest salary is within 5:1
 the ratio between the highest and median (midpoint) salary is within 3.5:1
 CAFOD is a Living Wage employer

The annual review process aims to maintain the first five criteria in balance but with the option to give
more weight to one or more criteria each year to allow for prevailing circumstances.
The CAFOD Board of Trustees is responsible for setting the remuneration levels for CAFOD senior
executives; defined as the CAFOD Director and his direct reports, currently the eleven members of
the CAFOD Leadership Group (CLG). CLG is responsible for setting the remuneration for the
CAFOD workforce. However, CAFOD is committed to ensuring that there is a clear relationship
between the remuneration policy and practice of senior staff and that of CAFOD’s whole workforce.
Therefore, the remuneration review process is designed to accommodate this.
The Board of Trustees have delegated the responsibility for making remuneration recommendations
to the Remuneration Committee.
Annually, in late autumn, the Remuneration Committee will review evidence for each of the five
principles. This evidence will be compiled by the Director of People and Performance and will be
accompanied by a financial impact analysis provided by the Director of Finance Information and
Infrastructure.
The meeting will be attended by Director of CAFOD, who will outline the CLG’s position on
remuneration for CAFOD staff members.
The Remuneration Committee will also receive a submission from Union representatives. This may be
in person or in writing.
The Remuneration Committee will consider all the information received and:
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make recommendations on the remuneration of senior executives to go before the autumn
meeting of the Board of Trustees
make recommendations on the remuneration of CAFOD staff members to go to CLG.

At the winter meeting of the Board of Trustees, the Chair of the Remuneration Committee will present
recommendations on senior executive remuneration. The Director of Organisational Development and
People will also present CLG’s decision on staff remuneration.
The Board will consider the information presented and set the senior executive remuneration for the
forthcoming year.

Public benefit
The Trustees have taken account of the statutory reporting duty to illustrate how in practice the activities of
CAFOD meet the legal public benefit requirement. In this respect, the Trustees have noted and paid due
regard to all the Charity Commission’s statutory guidance that is relevant to our mission, and have
highlighted in this report examples of CAFOD’s activities which illustrate how our work fulfils its mission and
the significant benefits it brings to:
 individuals and communities in poverty overseas, irrespective of their race, religion or creed
 teachers, youth workers, students and pupils involved in teaching and learning about global poverty
and injustice and its causes
 the Catholic community in England and Wales in expressing its faith in action in response to global
poverty and injustice issues.
The Trustees give their time voluntarily and receive no private benefits from CAFOD.
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Trustees’ responsibilities in respect of the
financial statements
The Trustees are responsible for preparing the Trustees’ Report, which incorporates the directors’ report as
required by company law, and accounts in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
The law applicable to charities in England and Wales requires the Trustees to prepare accounts for each
financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and the group
as at the end of the financial year of the income and expenditure of the group for that period. In preparing
these accounts, the Trustees are required to:
 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently
 observe the methods and principles in the Statement of Recommended Practice “Accounting and
Reporting by Charities” (the Charities’ SORP)
 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent
 state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the accounts; and
 prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
charity will continue in operation.
The Trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the financial position of the charitable company and enable them to ensure that the accounts
comply with the Companies Act 2006 and the Charities Act 2011. They are also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the charitable company and the group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of financial information included on the
charity’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of
accounts may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
Insofar as each of the trustees of the charity at the date of approval of this report is aware there is no
relevant audit information (information needed by the charity’s auditor in connection with preparing the audit
report) of which the charity’s auditor is unaware. Each trustee has taken all of the steps that he/she should
have taken as a trustee in order to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the charity’s auditor is aware of that information.
The Trustees’ Report, including the strategic report, was approved by the Trustees on 7 th July 2016 and
signed on their behalf by

The Right Reverend John Arnold – Chair of Trustees
7th July 2016
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members and Trustees
of CAFOD for the year ended 31 March 2016
We have audited the financial statements of CAFOD for the year ended 31 March 2016 which comprise the
Group Statement of Financial Activities, the Group and Parent Charitable Company Balance Sheets, the
Group Cash Flow Statement and the related notes.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
This report is made solely to the members and the trustees, as a body, in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006 and s151 of the Charities Act 2011. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the members and trustees those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the charitable company and the members and trustees as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of trustees and auditor
As explained more fully in the Trustees’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 33, the trustees (who are
also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.
We have been appointed auditor under the Companies Act 2006 and s151 of the Charities Act 2011 and
report in accordance with those Acts. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for
Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the APB’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/private.cfm.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
 give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the parent charitable company’s affairs as at
31 March 2016, and of the group’s incoming resources and application of resources, including its
income and expenditure, for the year then ended;
 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and
 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and the
Charities Act 2011.
Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Trustees’ Annual Report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 and the
Charities Act 2011 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
 the parent charitable company has not kept adequate and sufficient accounting records, or returns
adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
 the parent charitable company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records
and returns; or
 certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Pesh Framjee (Senior statutory auditor)
6th October 2016
for and on behalf of Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP, Statutory Auditor
Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of s1212 of the Companies Act 2006.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities
(incorporating an income and expenditure account)

for the year ended 31 March 2016
Unrestricted
Funds
£’000

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
Funds
2016
£’000

Unrestricted
Funds
£’000

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
Funds
2015
£’000

5

23,248
4,613
41
217
_______
28,119
_______

12,456
12,504
18
_______
24,978
_______

35,704
17,117
41
235
_______
53,097
_______

29,280
7,623
111
200
_______
37,214
_______

10,416
8,358
18
_______
18,792
_______

39,696
15,981
111
218
_______
56,006
_______

6

5,602

182

5,784

5,958

229

6,187

6
6
6
6

15,277
4,435
2,775
3,807
_______
31,896
_______

8,758
16,297
98
173
_______
25,508
_______

24,035
20,732
2,873
3,980
_______
57,404
_______

14,111
5,530
2,865
3,879
_______
32,343
_______

8,456
11,907
62
181
_______
20,835
_______

22,567
17,437
2,927
4,060
_______
53,178
_______

Note
Income and endowments from:
Donations and legacies
Charitable Activities
Other trading activities
Investments

3
4

Total
Expenditure on:
Raising funds
Charitable activities:
International Development
Disaster Relief
Development education
Advocacy and campaigning
Total

6

Operating surplus/(deficit)
Net gains/(losses) on investments
Net income/(expenditure)

(3,777)
14
8/23

(530)

(4,307)

4,871

(22)
(22)
_______ _______ _______ _______
(3,777)
(552)
(4,329)
4,871

(2,043)

2,828

39
39
_______ _______
(2,004)
2,867

Reconciliation of funds:
Total funds brought forward
Total funds carried forward

26,709
6,275
32,984
21,838
8,279
30,117
_______ _______ _______ _______ _______ _______
22,932
5,723
28,655
26,709
6,275
32,984
======= ======= ======= ======= ======= =======

CAFOD did not change any of its principal activities during the above financial years and there were no gains and losses
other than those included above. Restricted funds above include permanent endowment funds with a current value of
£455,843; see note 14. All of the charity’s activities were derived from continuing operations.
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Balance Sheets
as at 31 March 2016

Note
Fixed assets
Tangible assets
Intangible assets
Investments

Current assets
Stock
Debtors
Short term cash deposits
Cash at bank and in hand

Current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due
within one year

11
12
14

15

16

Net current assets/(liabilities)

Total assets less current liabilities
Pension scheme liability
Total net assets

2016
2016
Group Company
£’000
£’000

2015
2015
Group Company
£’000
£’000

10,752
409
3,996
_______
15,157
_______

10,752
409
3,996
_______
15,157
_______

11,000
290
4,018
_______
15,308
_______

11,000
290
4,018
_______
15,308
_______

25
3,776
17,083
3,044
_______
23,928

3,829
17,083
3,016
_______
23,928

24
3,457
18,525
2,583
_______
24,589

3,511
18,525
2,553
_______
24,589

(9,626)
(9,626)
(6,253)
(6,253)
_______ _______ _______ _______
14,302
14,302
18,336
18,336
_______ _______ _______ _______
29,459

29,459

33,644

33,644

18

(804)
(804)
(660)
(660)
_______ _______ _______ _______
22
28,655
28,655
32,984
32,984
======= ======= ======= =======

The funds of the charity:
Endowment funds
Restricted income funds:
General donations and legacies
Emergency appeals
Income from charitable activities
Unrestricted funds:
Designated fixed asset fund
Designated programme fund
General funds
Total funds

20

456

456

20
20
20

563
5,599
(895)

563
5,599
(895)

478

478

577
4,809
411

577
4,809
41120

21
21
21

5,702
5,702
5,830
5,830
7,263
7,263
9,683
9,683
9,967
9,967
11,196
11,196
_______ _______ _______ _______
22
28,655
28,655
32,984
32,984
======= ======= ======= =======

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the trustees on 7th July 2016 and signed
on their behalf by:

The Right Reverend John Arnold
Chair of the Trustees
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2016

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash provided by/(used in)
operating activities

23

Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends and interest from investments
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets
Purchase of fixed assets

2015
£’000

(943)
990
_______ _______

235
218
3
26
(276)
(439)
_______ _______

Net cash provided by/(used in)
investing activities

Change in cash and cash equivalents
in the reporting period

2016
£’000

(38)
(195)
_______ _______

24

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the reporting period

Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the reporting period

(981)

795

21,108

20,313

_______

_______

20,127
21,108
======= =======
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2016
1. Accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by
Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS
102) (effective 1 January 2015) (Charities SORP (FRS102)), the Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS102), and applicable company and charity law in the
UK.
Having reviewed the financial position and future plans for the charity, the trustees have identified no
material uncertainties related to events or conditions that cast significant doubt on the charity’s ability
to continue its activities for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt a going concern
basis in preparing the financial statements.
The charity is a public benefit entity as defined in FRS102.
The effect of CAFOD’s incorporation and the adoption of the new SORP are explained in Note 2
below.

(b) Basis of consolidation
The group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the charity and of its subsidiary
undertaking, the CAFOD Trading Company Limited. No separate Statement of Financial Activity or
Cash Flow Statement are presented for the parent charity, as permitted by s.408, Companies Act
2006 and FRS102 paras 1.8, 1.12(b) respectively. The result of the charity for the year was a deficit of
£4.329m (2015: surplus £2.867m).

(c) Income
Unrestricted income is available for expenditure approved by the Board. Restricted income is available
for expenditure in accordance with the purpose specified by the donor.
Income is credited to the Statement of Financial Activities when entitlement can be demonstrated,
receipt is probable and the amount can be reliably measured. In respect of income from governments
and other institutional donors, entitlement obtains when only administrative requirements exist and all
disbursement and other entitlement conditions are satisfied. Any income restricted for expenditure in
future years is deferred. Legacies are included in the Statement of Financial Activities when CAFOD is
advised by the personal representative(s) of an estate that payment will be made or property
transferred and the amount involved can be quantified.
Income in kind – food aid, agricultural inputs or other goods or services for which CAFOD accepts
responsibility for distribution – is included in ‘Income from donations’ at its market value when it is
received within partner programmes, and as expenditure in ‘Charitable activities’ at the same value
and time.
Donations from supporters are accounted for when received.

38

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2016
(d) Expenditure
Expenditure is included in the Statement of Financial Activities when incurred and includes attributable
input VAT which cannot be recovered. Expenditure is categorised both by type (namely grants to
partners, activity costs and support costs) and by purpose (namely raising funds and charitable
activities); an analysis of total expenditure by type and by purpose is given in note 6.
Grants to partners:
Grants are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities when they have been approved and where
a binding commitment has been made to the partner organisation. Grants represent funds made
available to partner programmes and comprise either cash funds transferred to the partners or in kind
provision of goods and services procured on their behalf. Programme grants that have been approved
but not yet disbursed at the balance sheet date are carried forward as programme creditors in the
balance sheet.
Activity and support costs:
Activity costs include the costs of the trading company and the costs of all teams in CAFOD other than
Finance, Facilities, Governance, IT and Organisational Development and People functions, which are
classified as support costs. Governance costs include the costs of internal and external audit, Board
expenses and an apportionment of the salary costs of the senior executive team, relating to time spent
by them on the governance of CAFOD’s activities.
Activity costs are attributed directly to expenditure purpose headings. Support costs are allocated to
expenditure purpose headings on the basis of the full time equivalent number of staff contributing
towards each purpose. The expenditure purpose headings are:
Raising funds:
Fundraising trading costs: the costs incurred in trading activities;
Costs of generating voluntary income: the costs incurred in attracting voluntary income;
Charitable activities:
International development: work with poor and disadvantaged communities in the global South to
overcome poverty and bring about sustainable development and well-being;
Disaster relief: work to protect lives and relieve suffering during emergencies and reduce the risks to
vulnerable communities as a result of conflict and natural disasters;
Development education: work to raise understanding of the causes of poverty and injustice to inspire a
commitment to lasting change;
Advocacy and campaigning: challenging those with power to adopt policies and behaviour that
promote social justice and end poverty.

(e) Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the
transaction. Financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet
date are translated at the rate of exchange on that date and any gains/(losses) on exchange are
credited/(debited) to the Statement of Financial Activities. Foreign exchange forward contracts are
included on the balance sheet at their fair value, and realised and unrealised gains/(losses) are
credited/(debited) to the Statement of Financial Activities.

(f) Pensions
CAFOD operates four contributory money purchase pension schemes. Scheme funds are independent
of CAFOD's finances and are administered by separate trustees for one scheme and by CAFOD
trustees for two schemes. CAFOD's contributions are charged in the Statement of Financial Activities
in the year in which they are made.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2016
One of the schemes that CAFOD is a member of is the Pensions Trust’s Growth Plan. The Growth
Plan is a money purchase pension scheme which also has some historical guarantees. This is a multiemployer pension scheme for which it is not possible to identify separately the assets and liabilities of
participating employers and, as such, CAFOD’s regular payments in respect of this plan are charged
in the Statement of Financial Activities on a defined contribution basis. A liability is recognised for the
present value of agreed additional contributions payable to fund a deficit in this plan related to past
service.

(g) Fixed assets
(i) Tangible assets
Tangible assets costing £1,500 or more are capitalised. Depreciation on assets is charged from the
date of first usage and provided on the straight line method at the following annual rates in order to
write off each asset over its estimated useful life:
Leasehold land and buildings (subject to annual impairment review): 1-2% on cost
Plant and machinery: over 15 years
Computers, office furniture and equipment and motor vehicles: 25% on cost
(ii) Intangible assets
Software and website development costs are recognised as internally generated intangible assets
provided that:
There is certainty that it is technically feasible to complete the development activity so that it will be
available for future use; there is the intention to complete the development activity and use it: the
organisation can use the intangible asset to generate probable future economic benefits; adequate
technical, financial and other resources are available to complete the development activity and to use
it; and, the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development can be measured
reliably.
Intangible assets costing £50,000 or more are capitalised. Depreciation on intangible assets is
charged from the date of first usage and provided on the straight line basis in order to write off each
intangible asset over its estimated useful life, from the date it is first brought into use.

(h) Investments
Investments are included on the balance sheet at their market value at the end of the financial year.
Realised and unrealised gains/(losses) are credited/(debited) to the Statement of Financial Activities in
the year in which they arise.

(i) Stock
The cost of publications and promotional and educational material is written off in the year in which it is
incurred. Stock held by the trading company for sale is shown at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

(j) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include deposits repayable on demand without penalty. Short term money
market deposits, and fixed term cash deposits which do not meet this criterion are held under current
assets as short term deposits.

(k) Other financial assets and liabilities
Debtors and creditors are stated at the settlement amount after any applicable discounts. Cash and
bank deposits are stated at the cash amount.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2016
(l) Fund accounting
Designated funds comprise funds set aside out of unrestricted funds for specific future purposes.
General reserves represent those monies that are freely available for application towards achieving
any charitable purpose that falls within the charity's charitable objects.
Restricted funds comprise monies raised for, or their use restricted to, a specific purpose, or
contributions subject to conditions imposed by donors.
Endowment funds comprise monies that must be held indefinitely as capital. Income therefrom is
credited to general funds and applied for general purposes unless under the terms of the endowment
such income must be used for specific purposes in which case it is credited to restricted funds.

(m) Operating leases
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities as
incurred over the term of the lease.

(n) Financial instruments
The charity has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic financial
instruments. Financial instruments are initially recognised at transaction value and subsequently
measured at the present value of future cash flows (amortised cost). Financial assets held at
amortised cost comprise cash at bank and in hand, short term cash deposits and the group’s debtors
excluding prepayments. Financial liabilities held at amortised cost comprise the group’s short and long
term creditors excluding deferred income. Other than the pension scheme liability, no discounting has
been applied to these financial instruments on the basis that the periods over which amounts will be
settled are such that any discounting would be immaterial. The pension scheme liability will be settled
over nine years’ and five months from the balance sheet date and is discounted appropriately.
At the balance sheet date, the charity held financial assets at amortised cost of £27.6m (2015:
£28.3m) and financial liabilities at amortised cost of £10.4m (2015: £6.9m).

(o) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the charity’s accounting policies, Trustees are required to make judgements,
estimates, assumptions about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects the
current and future periods.
In the view of the Trustees, no assumptions concerning the future or estimation uncertainty affecting
assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date are likely to result in a material adjustment to their
carrying amounts in the next financial year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2016
2. Incorporation of CAFOD and adoption of the new SORP
CAFOD was previously constituted as an unincorporated trust. The trustees transferred the assets,
liabilities and undertaking of the trust to a new charitable company limited by guarantee with effect
from 1 April 2015.
The work of the charity is being carried on in a different legal form, but there has been no change to
the charitable purposes and beneficiary classes, and the trustees of the unincorporated trust have
become the first directors of the charitable company. The transfer of assets, liabilities and activities is
therefore accounted for by the charitable company as a merger rather than as an acquisition under the
group reporting provisions of SORP 2015. The main consequences for the 31 March 2016 accounts
are:
a) The accounts are presented as though the charitable company had always been in existence;
b) The trust’s 2015 results and balance sheet are included as comparatives, adjusted as
necessary to ensure uniformity of accounting policies (see below);
c) Assets and liabilities are transferred at book value as at 1 April 2015 and are not restated to
fair value.
The new charity was incorporated on 13th January 2015 and is domiciled and registered in the UK as a
company limited by guarantee (registered no 9387398).
The address of the registered office is: Romero House, 55 Westminster Bridge Road, London SE1 7JB.
The 31 March 2016 accounts are the first to be prepared in accordance with Charities SORP
(FRS102). Consequent changes in CAFOD’s accounting policies, and the effect of the changes on the
reserves as at 31 March 2014 and 2015 and the net income for the year ended 31 March 2015, are
set out in note 25.

3. Income from donations and legacies

General donations from supporters
Legacy income from supporters
Emergency appeal donations from
supporters

Unrestricted
Funds
£’000

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
Funds
2016
£’000

Total
Funds
2015
£’000

17,252
5,234

3,931
40

21,183
5,274

26,276
7,676

762
8,485
9,247
5,744
_______ _______ _______ _______
23,248
12,456
35,704
39,696
======= ======= ======= =======

Emergency appeal donations from supporters includes income received from the Disasters Emergency
Committee, a group of 13 leading UK aid charities that come together in times of crisis, of £3,878,000 (2015:
£2,624,000).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2016
4. Income from charitable activities
Unrestricted
Funds
£’000
Caritas and other Catholic agencies (a)
Government grants (b)
Institutional and other grants (c)

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
Funds
2016
£’000

Total
Funds
2015
£’000

92
4,397
4,489
2,732
4,421
5,871
10,292
11,278
100
2,236
2,336
1,971
_______ _______ _______ _______
4,613
12,504
17,117
15,981
======= ======= ======= =======

(a) Caritas and other Catholic agencies:
Caritas Australia
Caritas Belgium
Caritas Denmark
Caritas Germany
Caritas Italy
Caritas Japan
Caritas Korea
Caritas Aotearoa New Zealand
Caritas Norway
Caritas Spain
Caritas Switzerland
Caritas Taiwan
Catholic Relief Services
Development & Peace
Scottish Catholic International Aid Fund
Sécours Catholique
Trócaire
Vastenaktie
Others

(b) Government grants:
UK Government, DFID:
Programme partnership agreement
UK Aid Matched Funding
Humanitarian assistance DRC
Sierra Leone
Other
DFID / Government of Ireland Sierra Leone
European Union
Government of Guernsey
Government of Isle of Man
Government of Jersey
Government of Ireland
United Nations agencies
United Nations agencies (in kind)
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1
1
1
2
10
6
3
9
1
1
19
38
_______
92
_______

199
5
54
52
24
63
91
745
498
317
20
149
515
191
20
1,128
326
_______
4,397
_______

200
5
55
53
24
65
91
755
504
317
20
152
524
192
21
1,147
364
_______
4,489
_______

389
33
38
59
252
27
125
149
81
154
128
14
64
559
301
170
125
64
_______
2,732
_______

4,178
49
16
43
98
37
_______
4,421
_______

577
897
247
803
1,779
20
117
99
1,332
_______
5,871
_______

4,178
577
946
263
846
1,877
20
117
99
1,369
_______
10,292
_______

4,178
3,159
606
822
33
1,704
99
36
262
350
29
_______
11,278
_______

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2016

(c) Institutional and other grants:
Big Lottery Fund Grant
Christian Aid
Comic Relief
HIVOS
Islamic Relief
Norwegian Church Aid
Norwegian Church Aid (in kind)
START
The Mott Foundation
Others
Others (in kind)

Unrestricted
Funds
£’000

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
Funds
2016
£’000

Total
Funds
2015
£’000

19
77
4
_______
100
_______

218
40
15
10
247
1,603
61
42
_______
2,236
_______

218
40
15
10
266
1,680
65
42
_______
2,336
_______

132
28
198
75
301
102
86
528
492
29
_______
1,971
_______

No unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to government grants existing at the year end.

5. Income from investments
Unrestricted
Funds
£’000

Restricted
Funds
£’000

Total
Funds
2016
£’000

Total
Funds
2015
£’000

217
_______
217
_______

18
_______
18
_______

217
18
_______
235
_______

200
18
_______
218
_______

Grants
payable
£’000

Activity
costs
£’000

Support
costs
£’000

Total
2016
£’000

Total
2015
£’000

_______
_______

17
5,007
_______
5,024
_______

760
_______
760
_______

17
5,767
_______
5,784
_______

25
6,162
_______
6,187
_______

Interest receivable
Dividends receivable

6. Expenditure

Raising funds:
Fundraising trading costs
Costs of generating voluntary income

Charitable activities:
International development
Disaster relief
Development education
Advocacy and campaigning

14,997
6,309
2,729
24,035
22,568
16,006
3,459
1,267
20,732
17,436
76
2,387
410
2,873
2,927
252
3,192
536
3,980
4,060
_______ _______ _______ _______ _______
31,331
15,347
4,942
51,620
46,991
_______ _______ _______ _______ _______
31,331
20,371
5,702
57,404
53,178
======= ======= ======= ======= =======

Total
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Support costs:
Information technology
Human resources and organisational development
Pension Scheme deficit contributions
Financial management
Premises and facilities
Governance

Governance costs:
Strategic management and directorate
Legal and professional services
Internal audit
External audit
Board training and meeting costs

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

1,688
1,527
321
875
803
488
_______
5,702
_______

1,460
1,325
205
701
690
555
_______
4,936
_______

252
80
84
65
7
_______
488
_______

230
134
108
75
8
_______
555
_______

7. Grants payable

Activity:
Conflict resolution
Disaster relief
Economic advocacy
Education
Health
HIV/AIDS
Human rights
Sustainable livelihoods

Realised (gains) / losses on Foreign Currency
Unrealised (gains) on Foreign Currency contracts

Region:
Africa (a)
Latin America and Caribbean (b)
Asia, Middle East and Europe (c)
Global, policy and education

2016
Number

2016
£’000

2015
Number

2015
£’000

36
98
114
27
29
35
112
120
_______
571

1,067
16,056
1,574
343
1,392
1,361
3,382
6,247
_______
31,422

38
103
102
33
27
44
117
113
_______
577

1,106
13,166
1,420
332
1,398
1,902
3,238
5,457
_______
28,019

74
(290)
(165)
(343)
_______ _______ _______ _______
571
31,331
577
27,386
======= ======= ======= =======
269
119
122
61
_______
571

Realised (gains) / losses on Foreign Currency
Unrealised (gains) on Foreign Currency contracts

17,067
3,586
10,100
669
_______
31,422

15,446
3,987
7,838
748
_______
28,019

74
(290)
(165)
(343)
_______ _______ _______ _______
571
31,331
577
27,386
======= ======= ======= =======

A full list of grants is available on CAFOD’s website http://cafod.org.uk.
See note 17 on Forward foreign currency contracts.
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114
62
_______
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(a) Africa

2016

2016

2015

no. of grants

£000

£000

4

38

36

Burundi

-

-

25

35

1,026

1,308

Eritrea

7

1,637

1,376

Ethiopia

5

973

1,030

Kenya

24

1,001

1,163

Liberia

5

379

313

Malawi

10

208

210

Mozambique

14

329

321

Niger

9

309

322

Nigeria

6

163

224

Central African Republic
Democratic Republic of Congo

2

38

43

Sierra Leone

21

2,310

2,139

South Sudan

30

1,622

1,847

Sudan

16

2,451

1,769

6

174

67

Uganda

10

493

798

Zambia

15

646

589

Zimbabwe

41

2,110

1,619

9

1,160

247

269

17,067

15,446

2016

2016

2015

no. of grants

£000

£000

Bolivia

12

283

495

Brazil

25

1,099

1,300

Chile

1

13

-

Rwanda

Swaziland

Multi-Country
Africa

(b) Latin America & Caribbean

15

614

707

El Salvador

5

147

166

Guatemala

9

293

338

Honduras

5

115

98

Nicaragua

10

267

232

Peru

15

378

333

Multi-country

22

377

318

119

3,586

3,987

Colombia

Latin America and Caribbean
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(c) Asia and Middle East and Europe

2016

2016

2015

no. of grants

£000

£000

Afghanistan

4

101

211

Bangladesh

13

678

263

Cambodia

14

260

414

Greece

2

180

-

India

1

20

-

Iraq

-

-

75

Israel

4

109

100

Jordan

3

150

249

Lebanon

6

218

489

Myanmar

19

666

426

Nepal

10

4,658

-

Pakistan

1

89

-

Philippines

5

1,839

3,626

Serbia

1

80

-

21

327

590

Syria

4

185

120

Turkey

-

-

48

Vanuatu

1

14

-

West Bank and Gaza

9

407

1,043

Multi-country

4

119

184

122

10,100

7,838

Sri Lanka

Asia, Middle East and Europe

8. Net income/(expenditure)
2016
£’000
Net income/(expenditure) is stated after charging/(crediting):
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
Profit on sale of tangible fixed assets
Operating leases: land and buildings
Auditors’ remuneration

2015
£’000

405
363
(3)
(11)
296
275
65
75
======= =======

Auditors’ remuneration:
Audit of CAFOD
UK (primary auditors, CCW)
Overseas (secondary auditors)

Audit of CAFOD Trading (UK, CCW)

Other non-audit services
Certifications (UK, CCW)

33
27
_______
60
2
_______
62

33
32
_______
65
3
_______
68

3
_______
65

7
_______
75

======= =======
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9. Taxation
CAFOD is a registered charity and therefore is not liable to income tax or corporation tax on income derived
from its charitable activities. All of its income falls within the various exemptions available to registered
charities.

10. Employees, trustees and volunteers
Employees

2016
Number

Average full time equivalent (FTE) number
and cost of employees, by activity:
Generating funds
International development
Disaster relief
Development education
Advocacy and campaigning

2016
£’000

2015
Number

2015
£’000

90
3,769
89
3,955
171
5,469
171
5,213
79
3,083
83
2,811
50
2,168
50
2,156
65
2,816
68
2,970
_______ _______ _______ _______
455
17,305
461
17,105
======= ======= ======= =======

Salaries
Employer’s social security contributions
Employer’s pension contributions

14,608
1,287
1,410
_______
17,305
=======

14,515
1,298
1,292
_______
17,105
=======

The total average number (by headcount) of employees in the year was 470.
Included in the above are costs relating to redundancy and compensation for loss of office of £247,000
(2015: £195,000).
The number of employees whose emoluments (excluding employer’s pension contributions) amounted to
over £60,000 in the year was as follows:
2016
2015
Number
Number
£60,001 - £70,000
£70,001 - £80,000
£90,001 - £100,000

1
5
1

3
2
1

Total remuneration and benefits received during the year by CAFOD’s highest paid member of staff (the
CAFOD Director) was £92,337 salary and £16,159 employer’s pension contribution. The total remuneration
and benefits received during the year by the remaining 4 members of the key management personnel for
CAFOD, was £349,724 salary and £47,695 employer’s pension contribution.
Trustees
The trustees do not receive any remuneration for their services. CAFOD paid the costs of travel for two
trustees (2015: four trustees) to attend quarterly board meetings, the accommodation of all trustees at the
annual residential board meeting, and the costs for two trustees (2015: two trustees) to visit CAFOD
programmes during the year. Together, this cost a total of £8,922 (2015: £7,211).
Total donations received in the year from the trustees amounts to £8,885.
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Volunteers
In addition to employed staff and trustees, CAFOD relied on the services of 2,667 (2015: 2,402) parishbased volunteers, 193 (2015: 291) school volunteers and several thousand other volunteers engaged in a
range of volunteer activity such as campaigning, fundraising, media and youth work.

11. Tangible fixed assets
Leasehold
land and
buildings
£’000

Group and company

Cost
At 1 April 2015
Additions
Disposals
At 31 March 2016
Depreciation
At 1 April 2015
Charge for the year
On disposals
At 31 March 2016
Net book value
At 31 March 2016

Office
equipment
£’000

Motor
vehicles

Total

£’000

£’000

11,533
_______
11,533
_______

559
737
12,829
71
86
157
(94)
(49)
(143)
_______ _______ _______
536
774
12,843
_______ _______ _______

809
214
_______
1,023
_______

452
568
1,829
58
133
405
(94)
(49)
(143)
_______ _______ _______
416
652
2,091
_______ _______ _______

10,510
120
122
10,752
======= ======= ======= =======
10,724
107
169
11,000
======= ======= ======= =======

At 31 March 2015

As at 31 March 2016, CAFOD had capital commitments of £nil (2015: £214,000) related to the supporter
database. Leasehold land and buildings includes Romero House (net book value at 31 March 2016: £10.2m)
which is used as CAFOD’s head office and The Stableyard (net book value at 31 March 2016: £0.3m) which
is leased to another international development charity at less than market value.

12. Intangible fixed assets
Software
Group and company
£000
Cost
At 1 April 2015
Additions

290
119
_______
409
_______

At 31 March 2016
Depreciation
At 1 April 2015

_______
_______

At 31 March 2016
Net book value
At 31 March 2016

409
=======
290
=======

At 31 March 2015
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13. Operating lease commitments
At 31 March 2016, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in
respect of operating leases for land and buildings in England and Wales were:
£’000
Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive
Later than five years

24
87
_______
111
=======

14. Investments held as fixed assets
2016
2016
Group Company
£’000
£’000
Sterling deposits
Permanent endowment fund
Investments in subsidiary undertakings

2015
2015
Group Company
£’000
£’000

3,540
3,540
3,540
3,540
456
456
478
478
_______ _______ _______ _______
3,996
3,996
4,018
4,018
======= ======= ======= =======

The permanent endowment fund is invested in CCLA Charities Ethical Investment Fund Income Units at a
historic cost of £449,024. The movement on investments during the year was:
Group Company
£’000
£’000
Market value
At 1 April 2015
Unrealised gain/(loss)

478
478
(22)
(22)
_______ _______
456
456
_______ _______

At 31 March 2016

CAFOD, the charity, owns the entire £3 issued share capital of The CAFOD Trading Company Limited
(“CAFOD Trading”), registered in England and Wales (company number 989846). The principal activity of
CAFOD Trading is to carry out commercial activities for the benefit of the charity.
The turnover of the CAFOD Trading Company for the year was £37,883 (2015: £67,200). All the profits of the
company, which would otherwise be liable to corporation tax, are payable under Gift Aid to the charity,
CAFOD. The gross payment for the year therefore amounted to £14,934 (2015: £42,639). This payment is
considered to be a charitable contribution. The net assets of the trading company at 31 March 2016 were £3
(2015: £3).
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15. Debtors
2016
2016
Group Company
£’000
£’000
Interest receivable
Taxation recoverable
Accrued income
Prepayments
Other debtors
Forward foreign currency contracts (note 17)
Owed by subsidiary undertaking

2015
2015
Group Company
£’000
£’000

70
70
43
43
752
752
777
777
2,235
2,235
1,688
1,686
336
336
315
315
218
199
291
263
165
165
343
343
72
84
_______ _______ _______ _______
3,776
3,829
3,457
3,511
======= ======= ======= =======

Included in accrued income above is an amount of £433,000 (2015: £291,000) relating to legacies. As at 31
March 2016, CAFOD also had entitlement to a number of legacies from estates for which the administration
had yet to be finalised. The future income from these legacies is estimated at £3,412,000 (2015:
£2,200,000).

16. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
2016
2016
Group Company
£’000
£’000
Programme creditors
Taxation and social security
Other creditors and accruals
Forward foreign currency contracts (note 17)
Interest free loans from supporters

2015
2015
Group Company
£’000
£’000

7,826
7,826
4,537
4,537
474
474
335
335
1,238
1,238
1,328
1,328
88
88
53
53
_______ _______ _______ _______
9,626
9,626
6,253
6,253
======= ======= ======= =======

Other creditors and accruals include pension contributions of £127,000 (2015: £136,000).
Programme creditors represent grants approved that are yet to be paid to partners. Some grants for partners
are approved in principle for two or three years. Second and third year grants represent planned future
commitments, but are not recognised as a liability when they are approved, as payment is conditional upon
satisfactory progress. As at 31 March 2016 planned future commitments under formal multi-year funding
cycle approvals amounted to £4.4m (2015: £7.1m).

17. Forward foreign currency contracts
During the year CAFOD entered into forward foreign currency contracts with the objective of partially hedging
currency exposure on future overseas expenditure. The fair value of these contracts is calculated at the
balance sheet date by comparison between the rate implicit in the contract and the exchange rate at that
date. The unrealised gain on these contracts at 31 March 2016 was £165,000, which has been included in
debtors and grant expenditure (2015: unrealised gain £343,000, included in debtors and grant expenditure).
The contracts are to purchase US Dollars (USD) and sell Sterling (GBP) for a period of up to 12 months in
duration, at USD/GBP rates between 1.39 and 1.59. At the balance sheet date, a purchase value of USD
9.425 million remained on these contracts representing approximately 40% of forecast USD correlated
overseas charitable expenditure for 2016/17 that is not funded back to back in USD.
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18. Pensions
The charity operates four contributory money purchase pension schemes. Scheme funds are independent of
the charity and are administered by CAFOD foundation trustees for two schemes and separate trustees for
the other two schemes. For these schemes, CAFOD paid contributions at the basic rate of 10 per cent during
the year and members paid contributions at a basic rate of 5 per cent during the year. For members with
more than 10 years’ service, CAFOD paid 12.5 per cent and also matched any additional members’
contributions up to a maximum of 17.5 per cent in total.
One of the schemes that CAFOD participates in is the Pensions Trust’s Growth Plan, a multi-employer
pension plan which is funded and is not contracted out of the state scheme. As at the balance sheet date
there were 186 active members of the Growth Plan (31 March 2015: 165). CAFOD intends to continue to
offer membership of the Growth Plan to its employees along with the Pensions Trust’s Flexible Retirement
Plan.
Contributions paid into the Growth Plan up to and including September 2001 were converted to defined
amounts of pension payable from normal retirement date. From October 2001 contributions were invested in
personal funds which have a capital guarantee and which are converted to pension on retirement, either
within the Growth Plan or by the purchase of an annuity.
The Trustee of the Plan commissions an actuarial valuation every three years to determine the funding
position of the Plan by comparing the assets with the past service liabilities at the valuation date and the
rules of the Plan give the Trustee the power to require employers to pay additional contributions in order to
ensure that the statutory funding objective under the Pensions Act 2004 is met.
The triennial actuarial valuation results at 30 September 2014 were finalised during the year ended 31 March
2016. The valuation of the Plan was performed by a professionally qualified actuary. The market value of the
Growth Plan’s assets at the valuation date was £793.4 million and the Plan’s technical provisions (i.e. past
service liabilities) were £969.9 million, which is equivalent to a funding level of 82 per cent. The shortfall in
assets compared with the value of liabilities was £176.5 million (£148 million as at 30 September 2011).
The increase in deficit resulting from the valuation resulted in a revised recovery plan being issued by the
Actuary. The length of the recovery plan was extended by 2 years and 5 months beyond the initial 10-year
plan, and now extends to 31 August 2025. Contribution amounts were also adjusted depending on the
Actuary’s calculations of each employer’s share of the liabilities. CAFOD’s additional contribution was
revised to £90,169 for the year ending 31 March 2017, and contributions for the following eight years and
five months will be this sum increased by 3% compound per year.
CAFOD’s obligation to pay additional contributions over the period of a recovery plan are recognised as a
specific balance sheet provision. To comply with the requirements of the new Charities SORP (FRS102), in
restating the prior year comparative figures, this same accounting policy has been applied and a provision
made for this obligation (discounted at an appropriate rate) based on anticipated results of the 30 September
2014 valuation and based on CAFOD’s best estimate of the increase in future deficit contributions, at the
date of signing the 31 March 2015 accounts. The valuation results were published in February 2016 and the
provision adjusted in the year to 31 March 2016 accordingly. The movements on this provision are as
follows:
2016
2016
Group Company
£’000
£’000
Provision at start of year
Payments made during the year
Increase during the year
Discount rate adjustment

2015
2015
Group Company
£’000
£’000

660
660
601
601
(75)
(75)
(73)
(73)
232
232
101
101
(13)
(13)
31
31
_______ _______ _______ _______
804
804
660
660
======= ======= ======= =======

Provision at end of year
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The Trustees have determined that the appropriate discount rate to apply to the future cash liability is that
published by actuaries from time to time for single employer pension schemes. This rate was 3.5% at 31
March 2016 (3.17% 31 March 2015).
For the year ended 31 March 2017, CAFOD’s regular pension contributions for all its pension arrangements
are estimated to be £1,400,000 and its additional contribution to the Pensions Trust Growth Plan will be
£90,169.
Following changes in legislation in September 2005 and November 2011, there is a potential debt on the
employer that could be levied by the Plan’s Trustee. The Plan’s Trustee’s policy was that the application of
the potential debt only applied to employers with pre October 2001 liabilities in the plan. The Pensions Act
2011 extended this definition to include post October 2001 contributions. The debt is only due in the event of
the employer ceasing to participate in the Plan or the Plan winding up.
CAFOD has been notified by the Pensions Trust of the estimated employer debt on withdrawal from the Plan
based on the latest assessed financial position of the Plan as at 31 December 2015. As of this date the
estimated share of the employer debt for CAFOD was £2.5 million.
In the opinion of CAFOD’s trustees, as CAFOD intends to continue offering membership of the Plan and as
they are unaware of any intention for the Plan to be wound up, the debt is unlikely to crystallise in the
foreseeable future and therefore no provision is required to be made in these financial statements.

19. Handling funds and providing services for other agencies
CAFOD provides accounting and company secretarial support to Crosby Support Limited, a company
(number 2949213) formed by CAFOD supporters to operate a shop in Waterloo, Liverpool. The shop acts as
a focal point for CAFOD supporters in the Liverpool area to meet and participate actively in CAFOD’s
charitable aims, vision and values, locally. Crosby Support Limited has its registered office at CAFOD’s head
office, Romero House.
Since it began in 1993, Crosby Support Limited has donated £687,000 to CAFOD.

20. Restricted funds
Group and company

Endowment funds:
Sr. Laura Tanti Foundation
Restricted income funds:
General donations and legacies
Emergency appeals donations
Income from charitable activities
Investment income
Total

Opening
balance
£’000

Income
£’000

Expenditure
£’000

478

-

-

Transfers
Gains/ between
(losses)
funds
£’000
£’000

(22)

-

Closing
balance
£’000

456

577
3,971
(3,953)
(32)
563
4,809
8,485
(7,735)
40
5,599
411
12,504
(13,802)
(8)
(895)
18
(18)
_______ _______ _______ _______ _______ _______
6,275
24,978
(25,508)
(22)
5,723
======= ======= ======= ======= ======= =======

The Permanent Endowment relates to the Sister Laura Tanti Foundation for which CAFOD has received
cumulative donations as at 31 March 2016 of £421,155 (2015: £421,155) held under trust deeds. The
trustees of CAFOD hold this amount and its income in trust and will apply the income for the benefit of the
poor as stipulated.
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The balances on restricted funds represent those amounts received from donors for specified purposes or
regions that had not been expended at the balance sheet date. As at 31 March 2016 the balances held were
for the following purposes:
2016
2015
£’000
£’000
Africa Programme
Asia, Middle East and Europe Programme
Latin America Programme
General Programme
Permanent endowment

1,319
2,177
4,502
3,356
47
(93)
(601)
357
456
478
_______ _______
5,723
6,275
======= =======
For programme grants from governments and institutions, the timing of recognising funds and spending on
programmes activities varies, with some programmes in surplus (with grants recognised in advance of being
spent) and some in deficit (with funds recognised after being spent). The balance of funds from income from
charitable activities at 31 March 2016, shown net above, comprises:
2016
2015
£’000
£’000
Programme grants in surplus
Programme grants in deficit

1,212
1,921
(2,107)
(1,510)
_______ _______
(895)
411
======= =======

Net government and institutional grants

21. Unrestricted funds
Group and company

Designated funds:
Fixed asset fund
Programme fund
General funds:
Stabilisation fund
Unallocated reserve
Total

Opening
balance
£’000

Income
£’000

5,830
9,683

-

Expenditure
£’000

(4,873)

Transfers
Gains/ between
(losses)
funds
£’000
£’000

-

(128)
2,453

Closing
balance
£’000

5,702
7,263

9,000
9,000
2,196
28,119
(27,023)
(2,325)
967
_______ _______ _______ _______ _______ _______
26,709
28,119
(31,896)
22,932
======= ======= ======= ======= ======= =======

Designated fixed assets fund:
This fund represents the net book value at the balance sheet date of unrestricted tangible fixed assets, other
than those covered by the stabilisation fund, as explained below. This fund is not therefore available for
current expenditure, as the assets are used in the day to day operation of the charity.
Designated programme fund:
This represents available funds which the trustees have designated for expenditure on specific programme
activities within the detailed budget for the coming years.
General funds:
General funds are unrestricted funds in hand, over and above those set aside for designated purposes.
These are generated as planned or because more general income has been received than was expected or
because budgeted expenditure has not been incurred. The trustees have established a policy to spend any
general reserves in excess of the desired stabilisation fund on CAFOD’s programme and partners promptly,
taking the opportunity to meet existing needs or invest for the future, whilst ensuring that any further
commitments which the expenditure generates are sustainable.
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The trustees have established a desired stabilisation fund, which is the amount the Trustees plan to hold
back to limit any potential disruption associated with financial risks CAFOD faces from its operations. Based
upon a risk assessed as a shortfall of 15 per cent in the budgeted general income and the need for two years
to adjust programmes, the trustees have established the target level of the stabilisation fund at 30 per cent of
the planned annual general income for coming years, which equates to approximately £9 million.
When the construction of Romero House, CAFOD’s head office, was completed at a cost of just under £11m
around half was funded from selling the previous head office and the remainder from using cash already held
as the stabilisation fund. The trustees have agreed to hold some of this stabilisation fund in property on the
understanding that if CAFOD ever needs to utilise these funds then it will take out a loan mortgaged on the
new offices to release the necessary cash. CAFOD's bankers have signified their willingness in principle to
provide such a loan.
22. Analysis of net assets between funds

Group and company,
31 March 2016
Endowment funds:
Sr. Laura Tanti Foundation
Restricted income funds:
General donations
Emergency appeals
Caritas and other Catholic agencies
Government and institutional grants
Designated funds:
Fixed asset fund
Programme fund
General funds:
Stabilisation fund
Unallocated reserve
Total

Group and company,
31 March 2015
Endowment funds:
Sr. Laura Tanti Foundation
Restricted income funds:
General donations
Emergency appeals
Caritas and other Catholic agencies
Government and institutional grants
Designated funds:
Fixed asset fund
Programme fund
General funds:
Stabilisation fund
Unallocated reserve
Total

Net
current Pension
assets provision
£’000
£’000

Total
net
assets
£’000

Fixed
assets
£’000

Investments
£’000

-

456

-

-

563
5,599
310
(1,205)

-

563
5,599
310
(1,205)

5,701
-

-

1
7,263

-

5,702
7,263

-

-

456

5,460
3,540
9,000
1,771
(804)
967
_______ _______ _______ _______ _______
11,161
3,996
14,302
(804)
28,655
======= ======= ======= ======= =======
Net
current Pension
assets provision
£’000
£’000

Total
net
assets
£’000

Fixed
assets
£’000

Investments
£’000

-

478

-

-

478

-

-

577
4,809
272
139

-

577
4,809
272
139

5,830
-

-

9,683

-

5,830
9,683

5,460
3,540
9,000
2,856
(660)
2,196
_______ _______ _______ _______ _______
11,290
4,018
18,336
(660)
32,984
======= ======= ======= ======= =======

In addition to the above, there was £75,028 (2015: £83,774) owing from the CAFOD Trading Company to the
charity as at 31 March 2016.
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23. Reconciliation of net income/(expenditure) to net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities
2016
£’000
Net income/(expenditure)
Depreciation
(Profit)/loss on disposal of fixed assets
(Income) from investments
(Gains)/losses on investments
(Increase)/decrease in stock
(Increase)/decrease in debtors
Increase/(decrease) in Pension Scheme Liability
Increase/(decrease) in creditors

2015
£’000

(4,329)
2,867
405
363
(3)
(11)
(235)
(218)
22
(39)
(1)
(7)
(319)
(1,667)
144
59
3,373
(357)
_______ _______
(943)
990
======= =======

24. Analysis of changes in cash and cash equivalents
Opening
balance
£’000
Short term cash deposits
Cash at bank and in hand

Movement
£’000

Closing
balance
£’000

18,525
(1,442)
17,083
2,583
461
3,044
_______ _______ _______
21,108
(981)
20,127
======= ======= =======

25. Transition to FRS102
CAFOD has adopted new accounting policies in certain areas, in order to comply with the requirements of
the new Charities SORP (FRS102). These are as follows:
a) Pension costs: CAFOD’s obligation to pay additional contributions over future periods to help
eliminate the current deficit in the Pension Trust Growth Plan (note 18) has been recognised as a
balance sheet provision. Under the previous SORP this obligation was disclosed but not included on
the balance sheet.
b) Forward foreign currency contracts: These contracts are included on the balance sheet at their fair
value (note 17), and realised and unrealised gains/(losses) are credited/(debited) to the Statement of
Financial Activities. Under the previous SORP gains or losses on these contracts were only
recognised when realised, and fair values of contracts outstanding at the year-end were disclosed
but not included on the balance sheet.
c) Holiday pay: A liability is now recognised for accrued paid annual leave and paid sick leave, if
material. The previous SORP was silent on this matter, and charities could therefore choose whether
or not to accrue for holiday and sick pay; previously CAFOD did not accrue, on grounds of
immateriality.
Opening total funds as at 1 April 2014, net income for the year ended 31 March 2015 and total funds as at
31 March 2015 have been restated to give retrospective effect to these new policies, as follows:
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As preForward
viously Pension currency
reported provision contracts
£’000
£’000
£’000

Holiday
pay
£’000

As now
restated
£’000

Group and company:
Total funds, 1 April 2014
Endowment funds:
Sr. Laura Tanti Foundation
Restricted income funds:
General donations
Emergency appeals
Caritas and other Catholic agencies
Government and institutional grants
Designated funds:
Fixed asset fund
Programme fund
General funds:
Stabilisation fund
Unallocated reserves
Total

439

-

-

-

439

308
7,050
344
138

-

-

-

308
7,050
344
138

-

-

5,769
6,990

5,769
7,591

(601)

9,000
9,000
513
(138)
(296)
79
_______ _______ _______ _______ _______
31,152
(601)
(138)
(296)
30,117
======= ======= ======= ======= =======
As preForward
viously Pension currency
reported provision contracts
£’000
£’000
£’000

Group: Net income,
year ended 31 March 2015

Holiday
pay
£’000

As now
restated
£’000

2,445
(59)
481
2,867
======= ======= ======= ======= =======

Group and company:
Total funds, 31 March 2015
Endowment funds:
Sr. Laura Tanti Foundation
Restricted income funds:
General donations
Emergency appeals
Caritas and other Catholic agencies
Government and institutional grants
Designated funds:
Fixed asset fund
Programme fund
General funds:
Stabilisation fund
Unallocated reserves

Total

478

-

-

-

478

577
4,809
272
139

-

-

-

577
4,809
272
139

-

-

5,830
9,683

-

9,000

5,830
10,343

(660)

9,000

-

-

2,149

-

343

(296)

2,196

_______ _______ _______ _______ _______
33,597
(660)
343
(296)
32,984
======= ======= ======= ======= =======
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